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Part 1 Financial Information
Item 1 Financial Statements

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net of allowances
Other receivables
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other
Total current assets

Property, plant and equipment, net
Goodwill
Intangible assets, net
Other assets
Total assets

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Loan payable
Accounts payable — trade
Accrued liabilities
Other current liabilities
Total current liabilities

Deferred taxes
Other liabilities
Total liabilities

Commitments and contingencies

Stockholders’ equity:

ENZO BIOCHEM, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except share data)

Preferred Stock, $.01 par value; authorized 25,000,000 shares; no shares issued or outstanding
Common Stock, $.01 par value; authorized 75,000,000 shares; shares issued and outstanding: 46,254,870 at April 30, 2016

and 46,062,065 at July 31, 2015
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

April 30,
2016 July 31,
(unaudited) 2015

32,360 $ 18,109
14,000 12,109

= 6,650

6,978 7,396

1,819 2,222
55,157 46,486
8,638 7,948

7,452 7,452

4,884 6,155

357 353

76,488 $ 68,394
2,000 $ 3,013

9,152 8,762

8,056 11,297

2,464 886
21,672 23,958

28 37

1,820 1,793
23,520 $ 25,788

463 461
326,109 324,966
(275,531) (284,682)
1,927 1,861
52,968 42,606
76,488 $ 68,394

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Revenues:

Clinical laboratory services

Product revenues

Royalty and license fee income
Total revenues

Operating expenses:

Cost of clinical laboratory services

Cost of product revenues

Research and development

Selling, general, and administrative

Provision for uncollectible accounts receivable
Legal fee expense

Legal settlements, net

Total operating expenses

Operating Income (loss)

Other income (expense):

Interest

Other

Foreign exchange gain (loss)
Income (loss) before income taxes
(Provision) benefit for income taxes
Net income (loss)

Net income (loss) per common share:
Basic

Diluted

Weighted average common shares outstanding:

Basic
Diluted

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

ENZO BIOCHEM, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(UNAUDITED)
(in thousands, except per share data)
Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
April 30, April 30,
2016 2015 2016 2015

$ 18,162 15,657 52,775 $ 46,204

8,001 7,906 22,266 23,631

270 423 1,129 2,067

26,433 23,986 76,170 71,902

11,142 9,724 32,009 29,100

3,846 3,779 10,663 11,292

882 809 2,610 2,434

10,869 10,146 32,374 30,101

576 589 1,739 1,731

1,632 1,955 5,644 7,225
— (170) (18.,450) (170)

28,947 26,832 66,589 81,713
(2,514) (2,846) 9,581 9,811)
(40) (58) (122) (176)

22 26 87 28
419 (125) (99) (856)
(2,113) (3,003) 9,447 (10,815)

) 96 (296) 88
$ (2,115) (2,907) 9,151 $ (10,727
$ (0.05) (0.06) 0.20 $ 0.24)
$ (0.05) (0.06) 0.20 $ 0.24)
46,201 45,797 46,115 45,120

46,201 45,797 46,450 45,120
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ENZO BIOCHEM, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
(UNAUDITED)
(in thousands)

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
April 30, April 30,
2016 2015 2016 2015
Net income (loss) $ (2,115) $ (2,907) $ 9,151 $ (10,727)
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Foreign currency translation adjustments (222) (20) 66 123
Comprehensive income (loss) $ (2,337) $ (2,927) $ 9217 $ (10,604)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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ENZO BIOCHEM, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Nine months ended April 30, 2016
(UNAUDITED)

(in thousands, except share data)

Accumulated

Common Common Additional Other Total

Stock Stock Paid-in Accumulated Comprehensive Stockholders’

Shares Amount Capital Deficit Income Equity

Balance at July 31, 2015 46,062,065 $ 461 $ 324,966 $ (284,682) § 1,861 $ 42,606
Net income for the period ended April 30, 2016 — — — 9,151 — 9,151
Vesting of restricted stock 8,751 — — — — —
Exercise of stock options 23,702 — 66 — — 66
Share-based compensation charges — — 370 — — 370
Issuance of common stock 401(K) plan match 160,352 2 707 709
Foreign currency translation adjustments — — — — 66 66
Balance at April 30, 2016 46,254,870 $ 463 $ 326,109 $ (275531) $ 1,927 $ 52,968

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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ENZO BIOCHEM, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(UNAUDITED)

(in thousands)

Nine Months Ended

Cash flows from operating activities:

Net income (loss) $
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization of property, plant and equipment

Amortization of intangible assets

Provision for uncollectible accounts receivable

Deferred income tax benefit

Share-based compensation charges

Accrual for share-based 401(k) employer match expense

Foreign exchange loss

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable

Other receivables

Inventories

Prepaid expenses and other

Accounts payable — trade

Accrued liabilities, other current liabilities and other liabilities

Total adjustments

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital expenditures
Security deposits and other

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities:

Net proceeds from issuance of common stock
Proceeds from borrowings under Credit Agreement
Repayments under Credit Agreement

Installment loan and capital lease obligation payments
Proceeds from the exercise of stock options

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of period

Cash and cash equivalents - end of period $

April 30,
2016 2015

9,151 $ (10,727)
1,602 1,513
1,260 1,284
1,170 1,731
(8) (71)

370 319
560 511
14 640
(3,040) (940)
6,650 —
447 597
402 16
396 (957)
(1,970) (2,086)
7,853 2,557
17,004 (8,170)
(1,389) (1,168)
(1) (1)
(1,390) (1,169)
— 6,687
67,343 65,389
(68,356) (65,389)
(424) (316)
66 —
(1,371) 6,371
8 (112)
14,251 (3,080)
18,109 17,455
32,360 $ 14,375

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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ENZO BIOCHEM, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of April 30, 2016
(Unaudited)
(Dollars in thousands, except share data)

Note 1 — Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Enzo Biochem, Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiaries, Enzo Life Sciences, Enzo
Clinical Labs, Enzo Therapeutics and Enzo Realty LLC, collectively or with one or more of its subsidiaries referred to as the “Company” or “Companies”. The
consolidated balance sheet as of April 30, 2016, the consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income (loss), and cash flows for the three and nine
months ended April 30, 2016 (the “interim statements”) and 2015, and the consolidated statement of stockholders’ equity for the nine months ended April 30,
2016 are unaudited. In the opinion of management, all adjustments (which include normal recurring adjustments) necessary to present fairly the financial
position and operating results for the interim periods have been made. Certain information and footnote disclosure, normally included in annual financial
statements prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, have been condensed or omitted. The interim
statements should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements for the year ended July 31, 2015 and notes thereto contained in the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission. The consolidated balance sheet at July 31, 2015 has been
derived from the audited financial statements at that date. The results of operations for the three and nine months ended April 30, 2016 are not necessarily
indicative of the results that may be expected for the fiscal year ending July 31, 2016.

Effect of New Accounting Pronouncements

Leases - In February 2016, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2016-02 — Leases (Topic 842). The new standard establishes a right-
of-use (ROU) model that requires a lessee to record a ROU asset and a lease liability on the balance sheet for all leases with terms longer than 12 months.
Leases will be classified as either finance or operating, with classification affecting the pattern of expense recognition in the income statement. The new
standard is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, including interim periods within those fiscal years. A modified retrospective transition
approach is required for lessees for capital and operating leases existing at, or entered into after, the beginning of the earliest comparative period presented in
the financial statements, with certain practical expedients available. While we are evaluating the impact of adopting the new standard on our consolidated
financial statements, we expect that upon adoption we will recognize ROU assets and lease liabilities in amounts that could be material.

Revenue recognition - In May 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, which
supersedes ASC 605, Revenue Recognition. The new standard requires companies to recognize revenues upon transfer of goods or services to customers in
amounts that reflect the consideration which the company expects to receive in exchange for those goods or services. In July 2015, the FASB delayed the
effective date of the standard by one year. The new guidance is effective for financial statements issued for annual reporting periods beginning after December
15, 2017 and early application is not permitted before the original effective date of annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2016. We are
currently evaluating the impact of this standard on our consolidated financial statements.

Inventory — In July 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-11, “Simplifying the Measurement of Inventory,” which is intended to simplify the subsequent
measurement of inventories by replacing the current lower of cost or market test with a lower of cost and net realizable value test. Application of the standard,
which should be applied prospectively, is required for the annual and interim periods beginning after December 15, 2016. Early adoption is permitted. We are
currently evaluating the impact of this new standard on our consolidated financial statements.

Stock Compensation — In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-09, “Improvements to Employee Share-Based Payment Accounting,” which requires all
excess tax benefits or deficiencies to be recognized as income tax expense or benefit in the income statement. In addition, excess tax benefits should be
classified along with other income tax cash flows as an operating activity in the statement of cash flows. Application of the standard is required for the annual
and interim periods beginning after December 15, 2016. Early adoption is permitted. We are currently evaluating the impact of this new standard on our
consolidated financial statements.



Note 2 — Net income (loss) per share

Basic net income (loss) per share represents net income (loss) divided by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. As a
result of the net loss for the three and nine months ended April 30, 2015, and the three months ended April 30, 2016 diluted weighted average shares
outstanding are the same as basic weighted average shares outstanding, and do not include the potential common shares from stock options and unvested
restricted stock because to do so would be antidilutive.

For the nine months ended April 30, 2016, approximately 337,000 weighted average stock options were included in the calculation of diluted weighted average
shares outstanding. For the three and nine months ended April 30, 2015 and the three months ended April 30, 2016, the number of potential common shares
(“in the money options”) and unvested restricted stock excluded from the calculation of diluted earnings per share were 1,384,000, 1,139,000 and 444,000,
respectively.

For the three and nine months ended April 30, 2016, the effect of approximately 235,000 and 282,000 respectively, of outstanding “out of the money” options to
purchase common shares were excluded from the calculation of diluted net income (loss) per share because their effect would be anti-dilutive. For the three and

nine months ended April 30, 2015, the effect of approximately 384,000 and 192,000 respectively, of outstanding “out of the money” options to purchase
common shares were excluded from the calculation of diluted net income (loss) per share because their effect would be anti-dilutive.

Note 3 - Supplemental disclosure for statement of cash flows
For the nine months ended April 30, 2016 and 2015, income taxes paid by the Company were $207 and $103, respectively .
For the nine months ended April 30, 2016 and 2015, interest paid by the Company was $112 and $153, respectively.

For the nine months ended April 30, 2016 and 2015, the Company financed $76 and $388 respectively, in machinery and transportation equipment under
installment loans.

During the nine months ended April 30, 2016 and 2015, there was a total of $1,186 and $147 in new capital lease agreements.

During the nine months ended April 30, 2016 and 2015, the Company issued shares of common stock in connection with its share-based 401(k) employer
match in the amount of $709 and $663.

Note 4 - Inventories

Inventories consist of the following:

April 30, July 31,
2016 2015
Raw materials $ 920 $ 1,013
Work in process 1,811 2,002
Finished products 4,247 4,381
$ 6,978 $ 7,396

Note 5 — Goodwill and intangible assets

At April 30, 2016 and July 31, 2015, the Company'’s net carrying amount of goodwill, related to the Clinical Labs segment, is $7,452.
The Company’s change in the net carrying amount of intangible assets, all in the Life Sciences segment is as follows:

Accumulated

Gross Amortization Net
July 31, 2015 $ 27,838 $ (21,683) $ 6,155
Amortization expense — (1,260) (1,260)
Foreign currency translation 4 (15) (11)
April 30, 2016 $ 27,842 $ (22,958) $ 4,884




Intangible assets, all finite lived, consist of the following:

April 30,2016 July 31, 2015

Accumulated Accumulated
Gross Amortization Net Gross Amortization Net
Patents $ 11,027 $ (10,896)  $ 131 $ 11,028 $ (10,871)  § 157
Customer relationships 12,238 (8,158) 4,080 12,243 (7,398) 4,845
Website and acquired content 1,018 (1,018) — 1,020 (1,020) —
Licensed technology and other 504 (447) 57 518 (441) 77
Trademarks 3,055 (2,439) 616 3,029 (1,953) 1,076
Total $ 27,842 $ (22,958) $ 4834 § 27,838 $ (21,683) $ 6,155

At April 30, 2016, information with respect to intangibles assets acquired is as follows:

Useful life Weighted average

assigned remaining useful life
Customer relationships 8-15 years 4.5 years
Trademarks 5 years 1.5 years
Other intangibles 10 years 3.5 years

At April 30, 2016, the weighted average useful life of amortizable intangible assets is approximately four years.

Note 6 - Loan Payable

On June 7, 2013, the Company entered into a secured Revolving Loan and Security Agreement (the “Credit Agreement”) among the Company and certain of its
subsidiaries, with Enzo Therapeutics as a guarantor, and Healthcare Finance Group, LLC (the “Lender).The Credit Agreement, which expires in December
2016, provides for borrowings against eligible US receivables, as defined, of the Clinical Lab and Life Science segments up to $8.0 million at defined eligibility
percentages and provides for additional borrowings of $4.0 million for increased eligible assets. Debt issuance costs of $281 are being amortized over the life of
the Credit Agreement. If the amount of borrowings outstanding under the revolving credit facility exceeds the borrowing base then in effect, or the Lender
requires a reserve, the Company will be required to repay such borrowings in an amount sufficient to eliminate such excess. Interest on advances, payable
monthly, is based on the three month LIBOR rate, with a floor of 1.25% plus an applicable margin of 4.0%. In the event of any default, the interest rate may be
increased 3.0% over the current rate. The facility also carries a non-utilization fee of 0.50% per annum, payable monthly, on the unused portion of the Credit
Agreement. At each of April 30, 2016 and July 31, 2015, the borrowings under the Credit Agreement related to the Clinical Labs and Life Sciences receivables
aggregated $2.0 million and $3.0 million, respectively.

The Company’s obligations under the Credit Agreement are secured by primarily all the unencumbered U.S. assets of the Company, excluding buildings and
intellectual property which the Lender has a negative pledge, and the capital stock of subsidiaries. The Credit Agreement includes customary affirmative and
negative covenants and events of default and requires maximum levels of cash usage and minimum levels of liquidity, as defined, and provides for increased
liquidity levels if operating results are not achieved. Negative covenants include among others, limitations on additional debt, liens, loans or investments,
distributions, asset sales and affiliate transactions. Events of default include non-payment of principal and interest on debt outstanding, non-performance of
covenants, material change in business, breach of representations, bankruptcy and insolvency, material judgments and changes in control. In July 31, 2013, the
lender modified various financial covenants relating to fiscal 2014. As of April 30, 2016, the Company is in compliance with the financial covenants.

The Credit Agreement includes customary affirmative and negative covenants and events of default. The terms of the debt covenants include:

The minimum balance the Company must borrow at any time is $2.0 million. At April 30 2016, the loan balance was approximately $2.0 million, with an
additional availability of $4.8 million.

The Company must maintain a Minimum Liquidity, as defined in the Credit Agreement, of not less than $3.0 million. At April 30, 2016, the Company’s Minimum
Liquidity was $10.9 million.
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The quarterly Cash Burn, as defined in the Credit Agreement, must be greater than zero. During the nine months ended April 30, 2016, the Cash Burn was
positive in the amount of $1.0 million.

As of October 31, 2015, the Credit Agreement was amended to redefine Cash Burn and add a definition for Liquidity (the “amendment”). Under the amendment,
the determination of Cash Burn during a fiscal quarter excludes capital expenditures provided that Liquidity exceeds $7 million as of the last day of the fiscal
quarter. As of April 30, 2016, Liquidity as defined was $37.2 million.

Based on its current level of Minimum Liquidity and Cash Burn, the Company believes it will continue to be in compliance with the financial covenants in future
periods; however there are no assurances of such compliance. Based on our ability to comply with financial covenants in the past, our ability to obtain covenant
waivers previously, and our expected future performance, we believe we would be able to cure a non-compliance event and obtain a Lender waiver. The
Company currently believes that the Lender would be willing to negotiate and provide waivers to the Company in the event of non-compliance with covenants,
although there can be no assurances. In addition, the Company believes the effects of non-compliance with the covenants would not have a material effect on
our financial condition and liquidity due to cash provided by operating cash flows and funds available under the Company’s Controlled Equity Offering program.

Note 7 — Accrued Liabilities and Other Current Liabilities

Accrued liabilities consist of the following:

April 30, July 31,
2016 2015
Payroll, benefits, and commissions $ 3,636 $ 3,907
Legal fee expense 1,770 4,183
Professional fees 576 678
Research and development 300 300
Other 1,774 2,229
$ 8,056 $ 11,297
Other current liabilities consist of the following:
April 30, July 31,
2016 2015
Accrued legal settlement $ 1,909 $ 406
Capital lease obligations 298 149
Installment loans 257 331
$ 2,464 $ 886
Note 8 — Other Liabilities
Other liabilities consist of the following:
April 30, July 31,
2016 2015
Accrued legal settlement $ 803 $ 1,220
Capital lease obligations, net of short term 869 210
Installment loans, net of short term 148 363
$ 1,820 $ 1,793

As of April 30, 2016, future minimum payments under the capital leases, net of interest of $229 aggregates $1,167 including a short term debt portion of $298
included in other current liabilities. A total of $2.7 million is included in other current liabilities and in other liabilities as accrued legal settlement which is further
discussed in Note 13 - Contingencies.
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Note 9 — Stockholders’ Equity

Controlled Equity Offering

On March 28, 2013, the Company entered into a Controlled Equity Offering SM sales Agreement (the “Sales Agreement”) with Cantor Fitzgerald & Co., as sales
agent (“Cantor”). Under the Sales Agreement, the Company may offer and sell, from time to time, through Cantor, shares of the Company’s common stock, par
value $0.01 per share (the “Common Stock”), having an aggregate offering price of up to $20.0 million (the “Shares”). The Company will pay Cantor a
commission of 3.0% of the aggregate gross proceeds received under the Sales Agreement. The Company is not obligated to make any sales of the Shares
under the Sales Agreement. The offering of Shares pursuant to the Sales Agreement will terminate upon the earlier of (a) the sale of all of the Shares subject to
the Sales Agreement or (b) the termination of the Sales Agreement by Cantor or the Company, as permitted therein. The Shares were initially issued pursuant
to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-3 which was declared effective on August 5, 2010 and a prospectus supplement, dated March 28, 2013,
and more recently under the Company’s current Registration Statement on Form S-3 which was declared effective on August 13, 2013 and a prospectus
supplement dated August 1, 2013, filed by the Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”).

On December 31, 2014, the Sales Agreement was amended in order for the Company to offer and sell, through Cantor, acting as agent, additional shares of
Common Stock having an aggregate offering price of $20.0 million. In connection with the amendment to the Sales Agreement, the Company also filed with the
SEC a prospectus supplement dated December 31, 2014.

During the nine months ended April 30, 2016, the Company did not sell any shares of Common Stock under the Sales Agreement. For the nine months ended
April 30, 2015, the Company sold an aggregate of 1,588,480 shares of Common Stock under the Sales Agreement at an average price of $4.34 per share and
received proceeds of approximately $6.7 million, net of expenses of $207.

Share-based compensation

The Company has an incentive stock option and restricted stock award plan (the “2005 Plan”), and a long term incentive share award plan, (the “2011 Incentive
Plan”), which are more fully described in Note 10 to the consolidated financial statements included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended July 31, 2015. The 2011 Plan, which is the only plan from which awards may now be granted, provides for the award to eligible employees, officers,
directors, consultants and other persons of stock options, stock appreciation rights (SARs), restricted stock, restricted stock units, performance awards, and
other stock-based awards.

The amounts of share-based compensation expense recognized in the periods presented are as follows:

Three months ended Nine months ended
April 30, April 30,
2016 2015 2016 2015
Stock options $ 143 $ 104 $ 351 $ 283
Restricted stock 6 9 19 36
$ 149 $ 113 $ 370 $ 319

The following table sets forth the amount of expense related to share-based payment arrangements included in specific line items in the accompanying
statements of operations:

Three months ended Nine months ended
April 30, April 30,
2016 2015 2016 2015
Cost of clinical laboratory services $ 2 $ 3 $ 5 $ 9
Research and development — — — 2
Selling, general and administrative 147 110 365 308
$ 149 $ 113 $ 370 $ 319

No excess tax benefits were recognized during the three month periods ended April 30, 2016 and 2015.
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Stock Option Plans

The following table summarizes stock option activity during the three month period ended April 30, 2016:

Weighted

Weighted Average

Average Remaining Aggregate

Exercise Contractual Intrinsic

Options Price Term Value (000s)

Outstanding at July 31, 2015 1,358,104 $ 3.04
Awarded 488,473 $ 4.47
Exercised (23,702) $ 2.79
Cancelled or expired (6,000) $ 3.61
Outstanding at end of period 1,816,875 $ 3.43 1.9 years $ 2,386
Exercisable at end of period 1,104,974 $ 2.95 1.1 years $ 1,976

As of April 30, 2016, the total future compensation cost related to non-vested options, not yet recognized in the statements of operations, was $0.9 million and
the weighted average period over which the remaining expense of these awards is expected to be recognized is nineteen months.

The intrinsic value of in the money stock option awards that are vested at the end of the period represents the Company’s closing stock price on the last trading
day of the period in excess of the exercise price multiplied by the number of options that vested.

Restricted Stock Awards

A summary of the activity pursuant to the Company’s unvested restricted stock awards for the six months ended April 30, 2016 is as follows:

Weighted
Average
Awards Award Price

Outstanding at July 31, 2015 21,501 $ 8.84
Awarded — $ —
Vested (8,751) $ (2.32)
Forfeited (1,500) $ (2.86)
Unvested at end of period 11,250 $ 4.21

The fair value of a restricted stock award is determined based on the closing stock price on the award date. As of April 30, 2016, there was approximately $0.1
million of unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested restricted stock-based compensation to be recognized over a weighted average remaining period
of approximately seventeen months.

The fair value of the awards that vested during the nine months ended April 30, 2016 and 2015 was $30 and $67, respectively.

The total number of shares available for grant as equity awards from the 2011 Incentive Plan is approximately 820,000 shares as of April 30, 2016.

During the nine months ended April 30, 2016, the Company contributed $709 to match its employees’ 401 (k) contributions by issuing 160,352 shares,
representing the fair value of the shares at the date of issuance, and adjusted common stock and additional paid in capital by the same amount.

During the nine months ended April 30, 2015, the Company contributed $663 to match its employees’ 401(k) contributions by issuing 214,984 shares,
representing the fair value of the shares at the date of issuance, and adjusted common stock and additional paid in capital by the same amount.
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Note 10 - Income taxes

At the end of each interim reporting period, the Company estimates its effective income tax rate expected to be applicable for the full year. This estimate is used
to determine the income tax provision or benefit on a year-to-date basis and may change in subsequent interim periods.

The Company’s effective tax rate (provision) for the three months ended April 30, 2016 was deminimus compared to a benefit of 3.2% for the three months
ended April 30, 2015. The Company’s effective tax rate (provision) for the nine months ended April 30, 2016 and 2015 was (3.1%) and deminimus, respectively.
The tax provision for the periods was based on state, local and foreign taxes, net of the benefit for amortization of foreign intangibles. The Company’s effective
tax rate for both periods differed from the expected net operating loss carryforward benefit at the U.S. federal statutory rate of 34% primarily due to the inability
to recognize such benefit. The carryforward benefit cannot be recognized because of uncertainties relating to future taxable income in terms of both its timing
and its sufficiency, which would enable the Company to realize the federal carryforward benefit.

The Company files a consolidated Federal income tax return. The Company files combined returns with California, Michigan and New York State and City for
certain subsidiaries. Other subsidiaries file separate state and foreign tax returns.

Note 11 — Royalty and licensing income

The Company’s Life Science segment has a license agreement with Qiagen that began in 2005, whereby the Company earns quarterly royalties on the net
sales of Qiagen products subject to the license until the expiration of the patent on April 24, 2018. During the nine months ended April 30, 2016 and 2015, the
Company recorded royalty income under the agreement of approximately $1.1 million and $2.1 million respectively, which is included in the Life Sciences
segment.

Note 12 — Segment reporting

The Company has three reportable segments: Clinical Labs, Life Sciences, and Therapeutics. The Clinical Labs segment provides diagnostic services to the
health care community. The Company'’s Life Sciences segment develops, manufactures, and markets products to research and pharmaceutical customers. The
Company’s Therapeutic segment conducts research and development activities for therapeutic drug candidates.

The Company evaluates segment performance based on segment income (loss) before taxes. Costs excluded from segment income (loss) before taxes and
reported as “Other” consist of corporate general and administrative costs which are not allocable to the three reportable segments. Legal fee expense incurred
to defend the Company’s intellectual property and other general corporate matters is considered a component of the Other segment. Legal fee expense specific
to other segments’ activities has been allocated to those segments. Legal settlements, net represent activities for which royalties would have been received by
the Company’s Life Sciences segment had the Company had agreements in place with plaintiffs for the patents or products covered by the settlements.

Management of the Company assesses assets on a consolidated basis only and, therefore, assets by reportable segment have not been included in the
reportable segments below. The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as those described in the summary of significant accounting
policies contained in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended July 31, 2015.

14



The following financial information represents the operating results of the reportable segments of the Company:

Three months ended April 30, 2016

Revenues:

Clinical laboratory services
Product revenues

Royalty and license fee income

Operating expenses:
Cost of clinical laboratory services

Cost of product revenues

Research and development

Selling, general and administrative

Provision for uncollectible accounts receivable
Legal fee expense

Legal settlements, net

Total operating expenses

Operating income (loss)

Other income (expense):

Interest

Other

Foreign exchange gain

Income (loss) before income taxes

Depreciation and amortization included above

Share-based compensation included in above:
Cost of clinical laboratory services

Research and development
Selling, general and administrative
Total

Capital expenditures

Clinical Life
Labs Sciences Therapeutics Other Consolidated
18,162 — — — $ 18,162
— $ 8,001 — — 8,001
— 270 — — 270
18,162 8,271 — — 26,433
11,142 — — — 11,142
— 3,846 — — 3,846
— 674 208 — 882
6,008 2,877 — 1,984 10,869
612 (36) — — 576
54 11 — 1,567 1,632
17,816 7,372 208 3,551 28,947
346 899 (208) (3,551) (2,514)
(33) 7 — 14 (40)
2 4 — 16 22
— 419 — — 419
315 $ 1,329 (208) (3,549) § (2,113)
418 $ 514 — 28 $ 960
2 — — — $ 2
14 $ 9 — 124 147
16 $ 9 — 124 $ 149
331 $ 115 — g $ 446
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Three months ended April 30, 2015

Revenues:

Clinical laboratory services
Product revenues

Royalty and license fee income

Operating expenses:
Cost of clinical laboratory services

Cost of product revenues

Research and development

Selling, general and administrative

Provision for uncollectible accounts receivable
Legal fee expense

Legal settlement, net

Total operating expenses

Operating income (loss)

Other income (expense):

Interest

Other

Foreign exchange loss

Income (loss) before income taxes

Depreciation and amortization included above

Share-based compensation included in above:
Cost of clinical laboratory services

Research and development
Selling, general and administrative
Total

Capital expenditures

Clinical
Labs Sciences Therapeutics Other Consolidated

15,657 — — — $ 15,657
— $ 7,906 — — 7,906

— 423 — — 423
15,657 8,329 — — 23,986
9,724 — — — 9,724
— 3,779 — — 3,779

— 704 105 — 809
4,935 3,031 — 2,180 10,146
631 (42) — — 589
42 (22) — 1,935 1,955
— (170) — — (170)
15,332 7,280 105 4,115 26,832
325 1,049 (105) (4,115) (2,846)
(23) 6 — 41 (58)

11 2 — 13 26
— (125) — — (125)
313 $ 932 (105) (4,143) $ (3,003)
358 $ 543 — 22 $ 923

3 — — = $ 3

— $ _ _ — _

9 6 — 95 110

12 $ 6 — 95 $ 113

453 $ 58 — 4 $ 515
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Nine months ended April 30, 2016

Revenues:

Clinical laboratory services
Product revenues

Royalty and license fee income

Operating expenses:
Cost of clinical laboratory services

Cost of product revenues

Research and development

Selling, general and administrative

Provision for uncollectible accounts receivable
Legal fee expense

Legal settlements, net

Total operating expenses

Operating income (loss)

Other income (expense):

Interest

Other

Foreign exchange loss

Income (loss) before income taxes

Depreciation and amortization included above

Share-based compensation included in above:
Cost of clinical laboratory services

Research and development
Selling, general and administrative
Total

Capital expenditures

Clinical Life
Labs Sciences Therapeutics Other Consolidated
52,775 — — — 52,775
— $ 22,266 — — 22,266
— 1,129 — — 1,129
52,775 23,395 — = 76,170
32,009 = = — 32,009
— 10,663 — — 10,663
— 2,002 608 — 2,610
16,943 8,709 — 6,722 32,374
1,787 (48) = — 1,739
120 6) — 5,530 5,644
1,500 (19,950) — — (18,450)
52,359 1,370 608 12,252 66,589
416 22,025 (608) (12,252) 9,581
(75) 38 — (85) (122)
5 35 — 47 87
— (99 — — 99
346 $ 21,999 (608) (12,290) 9,447
1,226 $ 1,568 — 68 2,862
5 = = — 5
33 $ 19 o 313 365
38 $ 19 — 313 370
1,122 $ 267 — — 1,389
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Nine months ended April 30, 2015

Revenues:

Clinical laboratory services
Product revenues

Royalty and license fee income

Operating expenses:
Cost of clinical laboratory services

Cost of product revenues

Research and development

Selling, general and administrative

Provision for uncollectible accounts receivable
Legal fee expense

Legal settlement, net

Total operating expenses

Operating income (loss)

Other income (expense):

Interest

Other

Foreign exchange loss

Income (loss) before income taxes

Depreciation and amortization included above

Share-based compensation included in above:
Cost of clinical laboratory services

Research and development
Selling, general and administrative
Total

Capital expenditures

Clinical Life
Labs Sciences Therapeutics Other Consolidated
$ 46,204 — — — 46,204
— $ 23,631 — — 23,631
— 2,067 — — 2,067
46,204 25,698 — — 71,902
29,100 — — — 29,100
— 11,292 — — 11,292
— 1,887 547 — 2,434
15,090 8,886 — 6,125 30,101
1,820 (89) — — 1,731
174 (74) — 7,125 7,225
— (170) — — (170)
46,184 21,732 547 13,250 81,713
20 3,966 (547) (13,250) 9,811)
(63) 13 — (126) (176)
18 (34) — 44 28
— (856) — — (856)
$ 25 3 3,089 (547) (13,332) (10,815)
$ 1,072 $ 1,656 2 67 2,197
$ 9 — — — 9
— $ 2 — — 2
30 9 — 269 308
$ 39 $ 11 — 269 319
$ 1,02 § 122 — 4 1,168
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Note 13 — Contingencies

On June 7, 2004, the Company and Enzo Life Sciences, Inc., filed suit in the United States District Court for the District of Connecticut against Applera
Corporation and its wholly-owned subsidiary Tropix, Inc., which became Life Technologies, Inc. and was acquired by Thermo Fisher Scientific, Inc.
(NYSE:TMO) on February 3, 2014. The complaint alleged infringement of six patents relating to DNA sequencing systems, labeled nucleotide products, and
other technology. Yale University is the owner of four of the patents and the Company is the exclusive licensee. These four patents are commonly referred to as
the “Ward” patents. On November 12, 2012, a jury in New Haven found that one of these patents (United States Patent No. 5,449,667) was infringed and not
proven invalid. The jury awarded $48.5 million for this infringement. On January 6, 2014, the judge awarded prejudgment interest of approximately $12.5 million
and additional post-interest on the full amount will also be awarded starting November 7, 2012 until the total award is satisfied. The final award to the Company
could be reduced or be subject to possible claims from third parties. On March 16, 2015, the Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit vacated that judgment in a
decision remanding the matter to the district court for further proceedings. On February 22, 2016, the Connecticut District Court granted Applera’s motion for
summary judgment of non-infringement. The Company appealed that decision. There can be no assurance that the Company will be successful in this
litigation. Even if the Company is not successful, management does not believe that there will be a significant adverse monetary impact on the Company.

As of August 1, 2014 the Company was engaged in litigation in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York against Roche Diagnostic
GmbH and its related company Roche Molecular Systems, Inc. (“Roche”), as declaratory judgment defendant. This case was commenced in May 2004. Roche
seeks a declaratory judgment of non-breach of contract and patent invalidity against the Company. Roche has also asserted tort claims against the Company.
The Company has asserted breach of contract and patent infringement causes of action against Roche. There has been extensive discovery in the case. In
2011, Roche moved for summary judgment of non-infringement regarding the Company’s patent claims. In 2012, the motion was granted in part and denied in
part. In December 2012, Roche moved for summary judgment on the Company’s non-patent claims. Additional discovery was taken and the Company
responded to the motions in May 2013. On December 6, 2013, the Court granted in part and denied in part Roche’s summary judgment motion. On October 22,
2014, the Court ordered that damages discovery concerning the Company’s remaining contract and patent claims and Roche’s claims should be completed by
January 30, 2015, and expert discovery should be completed following the Court’s not-yet-issued claim construction ruling concerning the Company’s patent
infringement claim against Roche. Roche dropped its tort claims during damages discovery. On April 28, 2015, the Court heard oral argument on claim
construction issues. On May 8, 2015, Roche and the Company jointly moved the Court to extend the schedule for damages discovery until May 29, 2015, and
the Court granted that motion. The litigation in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York between the Company and Molecular
Probes, Inc. terminated on May 11, 2015, with a settlement, upon the parties’ joint stipulation for dismissal.

In 2012, the Company received a Subpoena Duces Tecum (the “Subpoena”) from the Department of Health and Human Services, Office of Inspector General
(“OIG”). The Subpoena was issued as part of an investigation being conducted by the US Attorney’s Office for the Eastern District of New York in conjunction
with the OIG. While a number of potential issues were raised initially by the government, the investigation came to focus primarily on an alleged failure to collect
diagnosis codes from physicians who ordered tests through Enzo Clinical Labs. The time period initially covered by the investigation was from 2004 through
2011. In response to the Subpoena, the Company cooperated with the government. On September 22, 2014, the Company and the U.S. Department of Justice
reached a settlement agreement to resolve this matter, in substantive form as disclosed in the Company’s fiscal quarter ended April 30, 2014. During the
quarter ended April, 30, 2014, the Company recorded a charge of $2.0 million in the statement of operations under legal settlements, net within the Clinical
Labs segment. The settlement amount will be paid with interest over a five-year period. Under certain circumstances, the Company was required to accelerate
payments and/or pay up to an additional $1.5 million based upon (i) a favorable recovery and collection related to the judgment in the Life Technologies matter
discussed above, (ii) receipt of additional capital greater than $10.0 million in a fiscal year (in that case, the Company is required to pay 20% of any amount
over $10.0 million plus interest, or (iii) sale of the Company. The final settlement covers the time period 2004-2014. During the three months ended January 31,
2016, the Company accrued an additional $1.5 million, due to the Company’s achievement of certain financial milestones. As of April 30, 2016, the total liability
for this settlement is $2.7 million, of which $1.9 million is included in other current liabilities and $0.8 million included in other liabilities.

On July 2, 2015, the Company as Plaintiff executed a settlement agreement with Luminex Corporation with respect to an action between the Company and
Abbott Laboratories and Abbott Molecular, Inc (Defendants) and Luminex Corporation (Intervening Defendant) before the United States District Court for the
District of Delaware for alleged patent infringement. Luminex paid the Company a total of $7.1 million as consideration for this agreement and the dismissal of
the litigation against Luminex.
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On July 20, 2015, the Company as a Plaintiff finalized and executed a settlement agreement with Siemens Healthcare Diagnostics Inc. (“Siemens”) to settle a
patent litigation lawsuit before the U.S. District Court for the District of Delaware in the amount of $6.7 million, net. Under terms of the agreement, Siemens will
also pay the Company additional royalties of $1.0 million per annum on sales of its molecular products manufactured and/or sold in the United States during the
its fiscal years 2015 through 2019 if sales of such products exceed a contractual amount. The net settlement amount was included in other receivables in the
consolidated balance sheet as of July 31, 2015 and was received in August 2015.

On October 9, 2015, the Company reached and finalized a settlement with Affymetrix, Inc. in the amount of $6.8 million, net in a patent infringement action
brought by the Company. On January 4, 2016, the Company reached and finalized a settlement agreement with Agilent Technologies, Inc. in the amount of
$6.1 million, net in a patent infringement action brought by the Company. Both cases were originally brought by the Company in the United States District Court
for the District of Delaware. The settlements are included in the statement of operations under Legal settlements, net within the Life Science segment.

On May 16, 2016, the Company reached and finalized a settlement with Life Technologies Corporation in the amount of $35.0 million in an infringement action
brought by the Company regarding its US Patents no. 6,992,180 and 7,064,197. The case was originally brought by the Company in the United States District
Court for the District of Delaware. This settlement will be recorded in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2016.

The Company is party to other claims, legal actions, complaints, and contractual disputes that arise in the ordinary course of business. The Company believes
that any liability that may ultimately result from the resolution of these matters will not, individually or in the aggregate, have a material adverse effect on its
financial position or results of operations

Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and related
notes and other information included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

Forward-Looking Statements

Our disclosure and analysis in this report, including but not limited to the information discussed in this Item 2, contain forward-looking information about our
Company’s financial results and estimates, business prospects and products in research and development that involve substantial risks and uncertainties. From
time to time, we also may provide oral or written forward-looking statements in other materials we release to the public. Forward-looking statements give our
current expectations or forecasts of future events. You can identify these statements by the fact that they do not relate strictly to historic or current facts. They

use words such as “anticipate”, “estimate”, “expect”, “project”, “intend”, “plan”, “believe”, “will”, and other words and terms of similar meaning in connection with
any discussion of future operations or financial performance.

In particular, these include statements relating to future actions, prospective products or product approvals, future performance or results of current and
anticipated products, sales efforts, expenses, interest rates, foreign currency rates, intellectual property matters, the outcome of contingencies, such as legal
proceedings, and financial results.

We cannot guarantee that any forward-looking statement will be realized, although we believe we have been prudent in our plans and assumptions.
Achievement of future results is subject to risks, uncertainties and inaccurate assumptions. Should known or unknown risks or uncertainties materialize, or
should underlying assumptions prove inaccurate, actual results could vary materially from past results and those anticipated, estimated or projected. As a result,
investors are cautioned not to place undue reliance on any of our forward-looking statements. Investors should bear this in mind as they consider forward-
looking statements. We do not assume any obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statement that we make, even if new information becomes
available or other events occur in the future. We are also affected by other factors that may be identified from time to time in our filings with the Securities and
Exchange Commission, some of which are set forth in ltem 1A - Risk Factors in our Form 10-K filing for the July 31, 2015 fiscal year. You are advised to consult
any further disclosures we make on related subjects in our Forms 10-Q, 8-K and 10-K reports to the Securities and Exchange Commission. Although we have
attempted to provide a list of important factors which may affect our business, investors are cautioned that other factors may prove to be important in the future
and could affect our operating results. You should understand that it is not possible to predict or identify all such factors or to assess the impact of each factor or
combination of factors on our business. Consequently, you should not consider any such list to be a complete set of all potential risks or uncertainties.
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Overview

Enzo Biochem, Inc. (the “Company” “we”, “our” or “Enzo”) is a growth-oriented biotechnology company focusing on delivering and applying advanced
technology capabilities to produce affordable reliable products and services to allow our customers to meet their clinical needs. We develop, manufacture and
sell our proprietary technology solutions and platforms to clinical laboratories, specialty clinics and researchers and physicians globally. Our pioneering work in
genomic analysis coupled with our extensive patent estate and enabling platforms have positioned the Company to continue to play an important role in the
rapidly growing molecular medicine marketplaces.

Enzo technology solutions and platforms and unique operational structure is designed to reduce overall healthcare costs to both government and private
insurers. Our proprietary technology platforms reduces our customers’ need for multiple, specialized instruments, and offer a variety of throughput capabilities
together with a demonstrated high level of accuracy and reproducibility. Our genetic test panels are focused on large and growing markets primarily in the areas
of personalized medicine, women'’s health, infectious diseases and genetic disorders.

For example, our AmpiProbe ™ technology platform can lead to the development of an entire line of nucleic acid clinical products that can allow laboratories to
offer a complete menu of services at a cost that allows them to enjoy an acceptable margin. In November 2015, New York State approved our first assay based
on the AmpiProbe platform aimed at providing affordable molecular diagnostics in light of reimbursement pressure. Our technology solutions provide tools to
physicians, clinicians and other health care providers to improve detection, treatment and monitoring of a broad spectrum of diseases and conditions. In
addition, reduced patient to physician office visits translates into lower healthcare processing costs and greater patient services.

We are comprised of three interconnected operating segments which have evolved out of our core competencies involving the use of nucleic acids as
informational molecules and the use of compounds for immune modulation. Information concerning sales by geographic area and business segments for fiscal
year ended July 31, 2015 can be found in our Form 10-K Note 15 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Below are brief descriptions of each of our operating segments (See Note 12 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements):

Enzo Clinical Labs is a clinical reference laboratory providing a wide range of clinical services to a physicians, medical centers, other clinical labs and
pharmaceutical companies. The Company believes having a College of American Pathologists (“CAP”) certified medical laboratory located in New York provides
us to the opportunity to more rapidly introduce cutting edge products and services to the clinical marketplace. Enzo Clinical Labs offers an extensive menu of
molecular and other clinical laboratory tests or procedures used in patient care by physicians to establish or support a diagnosis, monitor treatment or
medication, and search for an otherwise undiagnosed condition. Our laboratory is equipped with state of the art communication and connectivity solutions
enabling the rapid transmission, analysis and interpretation of generated data. We operate a full service clinical laboratory in Farmingdale, New York, a network
of over 30 patient service centers throughout New York and New Jersey, a free standing “STAT” or rapid response laboratory in New York City and a full service
phlebotomy, in-house logistics department, and information technology department.

Enzo Life Sciences manufactures, develops and markets products and tools to clinical research, drug development and bioscience research customers
worldwide. Underpinned by broad technological capabilities, Enzo Life Sciences has developed proprietary products used in the identification of genomic
information by laboratories around the world. Information regarding our technologies can be found in the “Core Technologies” section. We are internationally
recognized and acknowledged as a leader in the development, manufacturing validation and commercialization of numerous products serving not only the
clinical research market but life sciences researchers in the fields of cellular analysis and drug discovery, among others. Our operations are supported by global
operations allowing for the efficient marketing and delivery of our products around the world.

Enzo Therapeutics is a biopharmaceutical venture that has developed multiple novel approaches in the areas of gastrointestinal, infectious, ophthalmic and
metabolic diseases, many of which are derived from the pioneering work of Enzo Life Sciences. Enzo Therapeutics has focused its efforts on developing
treatment regimens for diseases and conditions for which current treatment options are ineffective, costly, and/or cause unwanted side effects. This focus has
generated a clinical and preclinical pipeline, as well as more than 111 patents and patent applications.
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Comparative Financial Data for the Three Months Ended April 30,

Revenues:

Clinical laboratory services
Product revenues

Royalty and license fee income
Total revenues

Operating expenses:
Cost of clinical laboratory services

Cost of product revenues

Research and development

Selling, general, and administrative

Provision for uncollectible accounts receivable
Legal fee expense

Legal settlements, net

Total operating expenses

Operating loss

Other income (expense):

Interest

Other

Foreign exchange gain (loss)
Income (loss) before income taxes

** not meaningful

Consolidated Results:

Results of Operations
Three months ended April 30, 2016 compared to April 30, 2015
(in 000s)

Increase
(Decrease) % Change
18,162 15,657 2,505 16%

8,001 7,906 95 1

270 423 (153) (36)
26,433 23,986 2,447 10
11,142 9,724 1,418 15
3,846 3,779 67 2
882 809 73 9
10,869 10,146 723 7

576 589 (13) 2)

1,632 1,955 (323) 17)
— (170) 170 **
28,947 26,832 2,115 8
(2,514) (2,846) 332 12
(40) (58) 18 31

22 26 @) (15)
419 (125) 544 **
(2,113) (3,003) 890 30

The “2016 period” and the “2015 period” refer to the three months ended April 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively.

Clinical laboratory services revenues for the 2016 period were $18.2 million compared to $15.7 million in the 2015 period, an increase of $2.5 million or 16%.
The increase is attributed to increased molecular testing volume and higher value account acquisitions, which were offset in part by attrition and a slight decline

in routine test volume.

Product revenues for the 2016 period were $8.0 million compared to $7.9 million in the 2015 period, an increase of $0.1 million or 1%. Revenues increased $0.2

million in the United States and decreased $0.1 million in European markets in the 2016 period versus the 2015 period.

Royalty and license fee income during the 2016 period was $0.3 million compared to $0.4 million in the 2015 period a decrease of $0.1 million or 36%. Royalties
are primarily earned from the reported sales of Qiagen products subject to a license agreement. Qiagen is experiencing declines in its US sales of HPV products
which in turn reduced our royalty income. There are no direct expenses relating to royalty and licensing income.

The cost of clinical laboratory services during the 2016 period was $11.1 million as compared to $9.7 million in the 2015 period, an increase of $1.4 million or
15% due to the increase in Clinical laboratory services revenue for molecular testing of 16%.

The cost of product revenues during the 2016 period was approximately $3.8 million in both the 2016 and 2015 periods. The gross profit margin was 52% in

both periods.

Research and development expenses were approximately $0.9 million and $0.8 million during the 2016 and 2015 periods, respectively.



Selling, general and administrative expenses were approximately $10.9 million during the 2016 period versus $10.2 million during the 2015 period, an increase
of $0.7 million or 7%. The Clinical Lab segment selling, general and administrative increased $1.1 million primarily due to increases in sales commission, payroll
and related costs and billing and collection expenses in support of greater molecular testing. The Life Sciences segment selling, general and administrative
decreased $0.2 million due to a decrease is compensation related expenses. Other segment selling, general and administrative decreased $0.2 million due to
lower salary related expenses and professional fees.

The provision for uncollectible accounts receivable, primarily related to the Clinical Labs segment, was $0.6 million for both the 2016 and 2015 periods. As a
percent of Clinical laboratory services, the provision for uncollectible accounts receivable relating to the Clinical Labs segment in the 2016 and 2015 periods was
3.4% and 4.0%, respectively. The decrease is primarily due to enhanced collection procedures for self-pay patient receivables.

Legal fee expense was $1.6 million during the 2016 period compared to $1.9 million in the 2015 period, a decrease of $0.3 million or 17% due to the timing of
legal activity and fees and related costs associated with ongoing patent litigation.

Legal settlements, net were $(0.2) million in the 2015 period from a small settlement which occurred in that period.
Interest expense was $0.1 million during the 2016 and 2015 periods due to interest incurred and fees relating to the credit agreement entered into in 2013.

During the 2016 period, the foreign currency exchange gain was $0.4 million versus a loss of $0.1 million, a favorable change of $0.5 million. The Company has
loans and receivables with its foreign subsidiaries which may be denominated in US dollars or a foreign currency. When re-measuring these amounts into the
respective entities’ functional currency, the Company recognizes a loss if those foreign currencies, including the Swiss Franc, British pound and Euro depreciate
relative to the US dollar during the period and a gain if those foreign currencies appreciate relative to the US dollar. During the 2016 period, the British pound,
Swiss franc, and Euro appreciated approximately 3%, 7% and 6%, respectively versus the US dollar. During the 2015 period, the Euro and Swiss franc each
depreciated 3% versus the US dollar, and the British pound appreciated 2% versus the US dollar.

Segment Results:
Clinical Labs

The Clinical Labs segment’s operating income before taxes was $0.3 million for the 2016 and 2015 periods. Revenue from laboratory services for the 2016
period were $18.2 million compared to $15.7 in the 2015 period. The increase of $2.5 million is attributed to increased molecular testing volume and higher
value account acquisitions, which were offset in part by attrition and a slight decline in routine test volume. Cost of sales during the 2016 period was $11.1
million as compared to $9.7 million in the 2015 period, an increase of $1.4 million due to higher molecular testing. Clinical Lab gross profit margin was
approximately 39% in the 2016 period and approximately 38% in the 2015 period. As a percentage of revenues, the provision for uncollectable accounts
declined to 3.4% versus 4.0% in the 2015 period and is due to enhanced collection procedures for self-pay patient receivables.

Life Sciences

The Life Sciences segment’s operating income before taxes was $1.3 million for the 2016 period as compared to $0.9 million for the 2015 period, an
improvement of $0.4 million. The 2015 period includes a $0.2 million benefit for a minor litigation settlement. Product revenues increased $0.1 million or 1% in
the 2016 period. The segment’s gross profit was $4.4 million in the 2016 period, as compared $4.5 million in the 2015 period, a decrease of $0.1 million due to a
decrease in royalty and license fee income. The segment’s other operating expenses, excluding legal and legal settlements, net, in the 2016 period decreased
$0.1 million due to decreased selling expenses. Due to appreciation of foreign currencies versus the US dollar, including the Swiss Franc, British pound and
Euro during the 2016 period, the foreign currency gain was $0.4 million compared to a loss of $0.1 million in the 2015 period, resulting in a favorable change of
$0.5 million in the 2016 period.

Therapeutics
Therapeutics segment’s operating loss before income taxes was approximately $0.2 million and $0.1 million in the 2016 and 2015 periods.
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Other

The Other segment’s operating loss before taxes for the 2016 period was approximately $3.5 million as compared to $4.1 million for the 2015 period, a decrease

of $0.6 million due to lower legal fee and compensation related expenses.

Revenues:

Clinical laboratory services
Product revenues

Royalty and license fee income
Total revenues

Operating expenses:

Cost of clinical laboratory services

Cost of product revenues

Research and development

Selling, general, and administrative

Provision for uncollectible accounts receivable
Legal fee expense

Legal settlements, net

Total operating expenses

Operating income (loss)

Other income (expense):

Interest

Other

Foreign exchange loss

Income (loss) before income taxes

** not meaningful

Consolidated Results:

Results of Operations
Nine months ended April 30, 2016 as compared to April 30, 2015

The “2016 period” and the “2015 period” refer to the nine months ended April 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively.

Clinical laboratory services revenues for the 2016 period were $52.8 million compared to $46.2 million in the 2015 period, an
The increase is attributed to increased molecular testing volume and higher value account acquisitions which were offset in part by attrition and a decline in

routine test volume.

(in 000s)
Increase
2016 (Decrease)
52,775 46,204 6,571 14%

22,266 23,631 (1,365) (6)
1,129 2,067 (938) (45)
76,170 71,902 4,268 6
32,009 29,100 2,909 10
10,663 11,292 (629) (6)
2,610 2,434 176 7
32,374 30,101 2,273 8
1,739 1,731 8 —
5,644 7,225 (1,581) (22)
(18,450) (170) (18,280) o
66,589 81,713 (15,124) )
9,581 9,811) 19,392 ok

(122) (176) 54 31

87 28 59 ok

%99 (856) 757 88

9,447 (10,815) 20,262 ok

increase of $6.6 million or 14%.

Product revenues for the 2016 period were $22.3 million compared to $23.6 million in the 2015 period, a decrease of $1.4 million or 6%. The decrease was due
to declines in sales of products ($1.0 million) in both the United States and foreign markets and the negative impact of translating revenues denominated in the

euro, pound sterling and Swiss franc which depreciated versus the US dollar in the 2016 period compared to the 2015 period ($0.4 million). Revenues
decreased due to lower order volume and were also negatively impacted by pricing due to competition and lower research funding, especially in academia.

Royalty and license fee income during the 2016 period was $1.1 million compared to $2.0 million in the 2015 period a decrease of $0.9 million or 45%. Royalties
are primarily earned from the reported sales of Qiagen products subject to a license agreement. Qiagen is experiencing declines in its US sales of HPV products
which in turn reduced our royalty income. There are no direct expenses relating to royalty and licensing income.

The cost of clinical laboratory services during the 2016 period was $32.0 million as compared to $29.1 million in the 2015 period, an increase of $2.9 million or

10% due to the increase in Clinical laboratory services revenue for molecular testing of 14%.
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The cost of product revenues during the 2016 period was $10.7 million compared to $11.3 million in the 2015 period, a decrease of $0.6 million or 6% due to
lower sales. The gross profit margin was 52% in the 2016 and 2015 periods.

Research and development expenses were approximately $2.6 million and $2.4 million during the 2016 and 2015 periods, respectively.

Selling, general and administrative expenses were approximately $32.4 million during the 2016 period versus $30.1 million during the 2015 period, an increase
of $2.3 million or 8%. The Clinical Lab segment selling, general and administrative increased $1.9 million primarily due to increases in sales commissions and
compensation related expenses in support of greater molecular testing volume. The Life Sciences segment selling, general and administrative declined
approximately $0.2 million due to declines in payroll and facilities expense. Other segment selling, general and administrative increased $0.6 million due to an
increase of $1.1 million for contested proxy expenses relating to our annual stockholders’ meeting which took place in January 2016, partially offset by
decreases of $0.3 million for professional fees and $0.2 million of payroll related expenses.

The provision for uncollectible accounts receivable, primarily related to the Clinical Labs segment, was approximately $1.7 million for both the 2016 and 2015
periods. As a percent of Clinical laboratory services, the provision for uncollectible accounts receivable relating to the Clinical Labs segment in the 2016 and
2015 periods was 3.4% and 3.9%, respectively. The decrease is primarily due to enhanced collection procedures for self-pay patient receivables.

Legal fee expense was $5.6 million during the 2016 period compared to $7.2 million in the 2015 period, a decrease of $1.6 million or 22% due to the timing of
legal activity fees and related costs associated with ongoing patent litigation. Legal fee expense in the 2016 period includes $0.4 million for contested proxy
costs relating to our annual stockholders meeting which took place in January 2016.

Legal settlements, net was $(18.5) million in the 2016 period versus $(0.2) million in the 2015 period. During the 2016 period the Company as plaintiff finalized
and executed settlement agreements with Affymetrix and Agilent Technologies, Inc. relating to patent infringement claims and collected proceeds held in escrow
relating to the PerkinElmer, Inc. and Molecular Probes, Inc. settlements, totaling $20.0 million. The Company also recorded an additional charge of $1.5 million
relating to the settlement with the U.S. Department of Justice, due to the achievement of certain financial milestones. See Note 13 Contingencies.

Interest expense was $0.1 million during the 2016 versus $0.2 million in the 2015 periods. During the 2015 period there were some additional fees relating to
the credit agreement, which was entered into in 2013.

During the 2016 and the 2015 periods, the foreign currency loss was $0.1 million and $0.9 million, respectively, a favorable change of $0.8 million. The
Company has loans and receivables with its foreign subsidiaries which may be denominated in US dollars or a foreign currency. When re-measuring these
amounts into the respective entities’ functional currency, the Company recognizes a loss if those foreign currencies, including the Swiss Franc, British pound
and Euro depreciate relative to the US dollar during the period and a gain if those foreign currencies appreciate relative to the US dollar. During the 2016 period,
the Swiss franc and Euro appreciated approximately 1%, and 4.5% respectively, versus the US dollar. The British pound depreciated 6.4%.

Segment Results:
Clinical Labs

The Clinical Labs segment’s operating income before taxes was $0.4 million for 2016 period as compared to breakeven in the 2015 period. The 2016 period
includes an additional $1.5 million charge for the legal settlement with the U.S. Department of Justice, due to the achievement of certain financial milestones.
Revenue from laboratory services for the 2016 period were $52.8 million compared to $46.2 million in the 2015 period. The increase of $6.6 million is attributed
to increased molecular testing volume and higher value account acquisitions, which were offset in part by attrition and a decline in routine test volume. Cost of
sales during the 2016 period was $32.0 million as compared to $29.1 million in the 2015 period, an increase of $2.9 million due to higher molecular testing
service revenues. Clinical Lab gross profit margin was 39% in the 2016 period and 37% in the 2015 period. As a percentage of revenues, the provision for
uncollectable accounts declined to 3.4% versus 3.9% in the 2015 period and is due to enhanced collection procedures for self-pay patient receivables.
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Life Sciences

The Life Sciences segment’s operating income before taxes was $22.0 million for the 2016 period as compared to $3.1 million for the 2015 period, an
improvement of $18.9 million. The 2016 period includes $20.0 million for patent and other litigation settlements previously described and $0.2 million in the 2015
period. Product revenues decreased $1.4 million or 6% in the 2016 period due to declines in sales of products ($1.0 million) in both the United States and
foreign markets and the negative impact of translating revenues denominated in the euro, pound sterling and Swiss franc which depreciated versus the US
dollar in the 2016 period compared to the 2015 period ($0.4 million). Revenues decreased due to lower order volume and were negatively impacted by pricing
due to competition and lower research funding, especially in academia. The segment'’s gross profit was $12.7 million in the 2016 period, as compared $14.4
million in the 2015 period, a decrease of $1.7 million primarily due to lower royalty and license fee income of $0.9 million and a gross margin decrease of $0.8
million on lower product revenues. Due to significantly smaller depreciation of foreign currencies versus the US dollar, including the Swiss Franc, British pound
and Euro during the 2016 period, the foreign currency loss was $0.1 million compared to a loss of $0.9 million in the 2015 period, resulting in a favorable change
of $0.8 million in the 2016 period.

Therapeutics

Therapeutics segment’s operating loss before income taxes was approximately $0.6 and $0.5 million in the 2016 and 2015 periods, respectively.
Other

The Other segment’s operating loss before taxes for the 2016 period was approximately $12.3 million as compared to $13.3 million for the 2015 period, a
decrease of $1.0 million. During the 2016 period, legal fee expense associated with ongoing patent litigation declined $2.0 million, professional fees declined
$0.3 million, and salary related expenses declined $0.2 million. These declines were partially offset by $1.5 million of consulting and legal fee expenses relating
to contested proxy costs for our annual stockholders’ meeting which took place in January 2016.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

At April 30, 2016, the Company had cash and cash equivalents of $32.4 million of which $0.5 million was in foreign accounts, as compared to cash and cash
equivalents of $18.1 million, of which $0.5 million was in foreign accounts at July 31, 2015. It is the Company’s current intent to permanently reinvest these
funds outside of the United States, and its current plans do not demonstrate a need to repatriate them to fund its United States operations. The Company had
working capital of $33.5 million at April 30, 2016 compared to $22.5 million at July 31, 2015. The increase in working capital of $11.0 million was primarily due to
net income of $9.2 million, which includes the recognition of $18.5 million in income from Legal settlements, net from patent litigation settlement agreements,
offset by net changes in operating assets and liabilities.

Net cash provided by operating activities as of April 30, 2016 was approximately $17.0 million as compared to cash used in operating activities of $8.2 million in
fiscal 2015, an increase of approximately $25.2 million. The increase in the 2016 period was primarily due to the change in net income of $19.9 million, and the

net change in operating assets and liabilities of $6.3 million, which includes the collection of other receivables of $6.7 million from the settlement agreement with
Siemens Healthcare Diagnostics Inc. in the first quarter of fiscal 2016.

Net cash used in investing activities in fiscal 2016 was approximately $1.4 million as compared to $1.2 million in the 2015 period, an increase of $0.2 million.
The increase in the 2016 period is primarily due to increased capital expenditures.

Net cash used in financing activities in fiscal 2016 was approximately $1.4 million as compared to cash provided by financing activities of $6.4 million in fiscal
2015. The decrease of $7.7 million was primarily due to proceeds from the issuance of common stock under the Controlled Equity Offering program in the 2015
period and a $1.0 million reduction in the loan payable under the Credit Agreement in the 2016 period.

On June 7, 2013, the Company entered into a secured Revolving Loan and Security Agreement (the “Credit Agreement”) among the Company and certain of its
subsidiaries, with Enzo Therapeutics as a guarantor, and MidCap Financial Services, LLC (formerly Healthcare Finance Group, LLC). The Credit Agreement,
which expires in December 2016, provides for borrowings against eligible US receivables, as defined, of the Clinical Labs and Life Sciences segments up to
$8.0 million at defined eligibility percentages and provides for additional borrowings of $4.0 million for increased eligible assets.
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At April 30, 2016 and July 31, 2015 borrowings under the Credit Agreement related to the Clinical Labs and Life Sciences receivables aggregated $2.0 million
and $3.0 million, respectively, with an additional availability of $4.8 million as of April 30, 2016. As of October 31, 2015, the Credit Agreement was amended to
add and redefine certain terms used in the Cash Burn covenant calculation, principally the elimination of capital expenditures from the calculation when
Liquidity exceeds $7.0 million.

As of April 30, 2016, the Company is in compliance with the modified financial covenants. See Note 6 to the Consolidated Financial Statements herein for a
further description of the Credit Agreement’s terms, the amendment and financial covenants.

The Company continued to review all operating units to further reduce annual operating expenditures in fiscal 2016. While revenues and operating results at the
Clinical Labs segment improved, revenues for the Life Sciences segment declined slightly versus fiscal 2015. If revenues were to significantly decline, the
segment could be required to record impairments of its intangible assets, which last occurred in fiscal 2012. The Company believes that its current cash and
cash equivalents level, utilization of the Controlled Equity Offering program if necessary, as disclosed in Form 10-K Note 10 to the financial statements, which
resulted in net proceeds of $6.7 million during the fiscal year ended July 31, 2015, and available borrowings under the aforementioned Revolving Loan and
Security Agreement disclosed in Note 6 to the financial statements herein are sufficient for its foreseeable liquidity and capital resource needs over the next
twelve (12) months, although there can be no assurance that future events will not alter such view. Although there can be no assurances, in the event additional
capital is required, the Company believes it has the ability to raise additional funds through equity offerings or other sources of funds. Our liquidity plans are
subject to a number of risks and uncertainties, including those described in the ltem 1A. “Risk Factors” section of our Form 10-K for the year ended July 31,
2015, some of which are outside our control. Macroeconomic conditions could limit our ability to successfully execute our business plans and therefore
adversely affect our liquidity plans.

See our Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended July 31, 2015 for Forward Looking Cautionary Statements.
Contractual Obligations
There have been no material changes to our Contractual Obligations as reported in our Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended July 31, 2015.

Management is not aware of any material claims, disputes or settled matters concerning third party reimbursement that would have a material effect on our
financial statements, except as disclosed in Note 13 to the Consolidated Financial Statement.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

The Company does not have any “off-balance sheet arrangements” as such term is defined in ltem 303(a)(4) of Regulation S-K.

Critical Accounting Policies

The Company’s discussion and analysis of its financial condition and results of operations are based upon Enzo Biochem, Inc.’s consolidated financial
statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. The preparation of these financial
statements requires the Company to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. These
estimates and judgments also affect related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities.

On an on-going basis, we evaluate our estimates, including those related to contractual expense, allowance for uncollectible accounts, inventory, intangible
assets and income taxes. The Company bases its estimates on experience and on various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

Product revenues

Revenues from product sales are recognized when the products are shipped and title transfers, the sales price is fixed or determinable and collectability is
reasonably assured.
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Royalties
Royalty revenues are recorded in the period earned. Royalties received in advance of being earned are recorded as deferred revenues.

Revenues — Clinical laboratory services

Revenues from Clinical Labs are recognized upon completion of the testing process for a specific patient and reported to the ordering physician. These
revenues and the associated accounts receivable are based on gross amounts billed or billable for services rendered, net of a contractual adjustment, which is
the difference between amounts billed to payers and the expected approved reimbursable settlements from such payers.

The following table represents the clinical laboratory segment’s net revenues and percentages by revenue category:

Three months ended Three months ended
April 30, 2016 April 30, 2015
Revenue category
Third-party payer $ 10,250 57% $ 9,172 59%
Patient self-pay 4,357 24 2,667 17
Medicare 2,421 13 2,543 16
HMO’s 1,134 6 1,275 8
Total $ 18,162 100% $ 15,657 100%
Nine months ended Nine months ended
April 30, 2016 April 30, 2015
Revenue category
Third-party payer $ 30,049 57% $ 25,937 56%
Patient self-pay 11,120 21 8,910 19
Medicare 8,174 15 7,763 17
HMO’s 3,432 7 3,594 8
Total $ 52,775 100% $ 46,204 100%

The Company provides services to certain patients covered by various third-party payers, including the Federal Medicare program. Laws and regulations
governing Medicare are complex and subject to interpretation for which action for noncompliance includes fines, penalties and exclusion from the Medicare
programs. See Note 13 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Other than the Medicare program, one provider whose programs are included in the “Third-party payers” and “Health Maintenance Organizations” (‘HMQO’s”)
categories represents approximately 31% and 30% of the Clinical Labs segment net revenue for the three months ended April 30, 2016 and 2015 respectively,
and 30% and 27% for the nine months ended April 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively.

Contractual Adjustment

The Company’s estimate of contractual adjustment is based on significant assumptions and judgments, such as its interpretation of payer reimbursement
policies, and bears the risk of change. The estimation process is based on the experience of amounts approved as reimbursable and ultimately settled by
payers, versus the corresponding gross amount billed to the respective payers. The contractual adjustment is an estimate that reduces gross revenue, based on
gross billing rates, to amounts expected to be approved and reimbursed. Gross billings are based on a standard fee schedule we set for all third party payers,
including Medicare, HMO’s and managed care. The Company adjusts the contractual adjustment estimate quarterly, based on its evaluation of current and
historical settlement experience with payers, industry reimbursement trends, and other relevant factors.

The other relevant factors that affect our contractual adjustment include the monthly and quarterly review of: 1) current gross billings and receivables and
reimbursement by payer, 2) current changes in third party arrangements and 3) the growth of in-network provider arrangements and managed care plans
specific to our Company.

Our clinical laboratory business is primarily dependent upon reimbursement from third-party payers, such as Medicare (which principally serves patients 65 and
older) and insurers. We are subject to variances in reimbursement rates among different third-party payers, as well as constant changes of reimbursement rates.
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Changes that decrease reimbursement rates or coverage would negatively impact our revenues. The number of individuals covered under managed care
contracts or other similar arrangements has grown over the past several years and may continue to grow in the future. In addition, Medicare and other
government healthcare programs continue to shift to managed care. These trends will continue to reduce our revenues.

During the three months ended April 30, 2016 and 2015, the contractual adjustment percentages, determined using current and historical reimbursement
statistics, were 84.6% and 85.5%, respectively, of gross billings. During the nine months ended April 30, 2016 and 2015, the contractual adjustment
percentages, determined using current and historical reimbursements statistics, were 84.4% and 85.4%, respectively, the decrease is due to the increase in
molecular testing performed. In general, the Company believes a decline in reimbursement rates or a shift to managed care or similar arrangements may be
offset by the positive impact of an increase in the number of molecular tests we perform. However, there can be no assurance that we can increase the number
of tests we perform or that if we do increase the number of tests we perform, that we can maintain that higher number of tests performed, or that an increase in
the number of tests we perform would result in increased revenue.

The Company estimates (by using a sensitivity analysis) that each 1% point change in the contractual adjustment percentage could result in a change in clinical
laboratory services revenues of approximately $3.4 million and $3.2 million for the nine months ended April 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively, and a change in
the net accounts receivable of approximately $0.6 million as of April 30, 2016.

Our clinical laboratory financial billing system records gross billings using a standard fee schedule for all payers and does not record contractual adjustment by
payer at the time of billing. Therefore, we are unable to quantify the effect of contractual adjustment recorded during the current period that relate to revenue
recorded in a previous period. However, we can reasonably estimate our monthly contractual adjustment to revenue on a timely basis based on our quarterly
review process, which includes:

. an analysis of industry reimbursement trends;

. an evaluation of third-party reimbursement rates changes and changes in reimbursement arrangements with third-party payers;
. a rolling monthly analysis of current and historical claim settlement and reimbursement experience statistics with payers;

. an analysis of current gross billings and receivables by payer.

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Accounts receivable are reported at realizable value, net of allowances for doubtful accounts, which is estimated and recorded in the period of the related
revenue.

The following is a table of the Company’s net accounts receivable by segment. The Clinical Labs segment’s net receivables are detailed by billing category and
as a percent to its total net receivables. At April 30, 2016, and July 31, 2015, approximately 73% and 68%, respectively, of the Company’s net accounts
receivable relates to its Clinical Labs business, which operates in the New York, New Jersey, and Eastern Pennsylvania medical communities.

The Life Sciences segment’s accounts receivable, of which $1.2 million or 32% and $1.1 million or 28% represents foreign receivables as of April 30, 2016 and
July 31, 2015, includes royalty receivables of $0.1 million, as of April 30, 2016 and July 31, 2015, from Qiagen Corporation.

Net accounts receivable

As of As of
Billing category April 30, 2016 July 31, 2015
Clinical Labs
Third party payers $ 6,882 67% $ 3,595 44%
Patient self-pay 1,835 18 3,213 39
Medicare 1,205 12 1,081 13
HMO’s 334 3 305 4
Total Clinical Labs 10,256 100% 8,194 100%
Total Life Sciences 3,744 3,915
Total accounts receivable $ 14,000 $ 12,109
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Changes in the Company’s allowance for doubtful accounts are as follows:

April 30,2016 July 31, 2015
Beginning balance $ 1,786 $ 2,142
Provision for doubtful accounts 1,739 2,284
Write-offs, net (603) (2,640)
Ending balance $ 2,922 $ 1,786

For the Clinical Labs segment, the allowance for doubtful accounts represents amounts that the Company does not expect to collect after the Company has
exhausted its collection procedures. The Company estimates its allowance for doubtful accounts in the period the related services are billed and reduces the
allowance in future accounting periods based on write-offs during those periods. It bases the estimate for the allowance on the evaluation of historical
experience of accounts going to collections and the net amounts not received. Accounts going to collection include the balances, after receipt of the approved
settlements from third party payers, for the insufficient diagnosis information received from the ordering physician which result in denials of payment, and our
estimate of the uncollected portion of receivables from self-payers, including deductibles and copayments, which are subject to credit risk and patients’ ability to
pay.

As at April 30, 2016 and 2015, the Company recategorized to collections customers whose accounts receivable had been outstanding more than 210 days. The
Company fully reserves through its contractual allowances amounts that have not been written off because the payer’s filing date deadline has not occurred or
the collection process has not been exhausted. The Company’s collection experience on Medicare receivables beyond 210 days has been insignificant. The
Company adjusts the historical collection analysis for recoveries, if any, on an ongoing basis.

The Company’s ability to collect outstanding receivables from third party payers is critical to its operating performance and cash flows. The primary collection
risk lies with uninsured patients or patients for whom primary insurance has paid but a patient portion remains outstanding. The Company also assesses the
current state of its billing functions in order to identify any known collection or reimbursement issues in order to assess the impact, if any, on the allowance
estimates, which involves judgment. The Company believes that the collectability of its receivables is directly linked to the quality of its billing processes, most
notably, those related to obtaining the accurate patient information in order to bill effectively for the services provided. Should circumstances change (e.g. shift in
payer mix, decline in economic conditions or deterioration in aging of receivables), our estimates of net realizable value of receivables could be reduced by a
material amount.

Billing for laboratory services is complicated because of many factors, especially: the differences between our standard gross fee schedule for all payers and
the reimbursement rates of the various payers we deal with, disparity of coverage and information requirements among the various payers, and disputes with
payers as to which party is responsible for reimbursement.

The allowance for doubtful accounts as a percentage of total accounts receivable at April 30, 2016 and July 31, 2015 was 17.3% and 12.9%, respectively.
During fiscal 2015, the contractual allowance applied to the Clinical Labs segment’s patient self-pay revenues was increased based on collections trends, which
has the effect of reducing the allowance for doubtful patient pay accounts receivable. We continue to improve our patient pay collection process by billing
patients sooner and by giving past due accounts to collection agencies sooner.

The following table indicates the Clinical Labs aged gross receivables by payer group which is prior to adjustment to gross receivables for: 1) contractual
adjustment, 2) fully reserved balances not yet written off, and 3) other revenue adjustments.

Third

Party
As of April 30, 2016 Total % Payers % Self Pay %  Medicare % HMO’s %
1-30 days $31,705 52 $19,340 44 3 4,525 66 $ 4,761 71 % 3,079 97
31-60 days 9,926 16 7,777 18 1,457 21 595 9 97 3
61-90 days 6,696 11 5,281 12 910 13 501 7 4 —
91-120 days 4,002 7 3,775 9 2) — 227 4 2 —
121-150 days 2,667 5 2,507 5 “4) — 160 2 4 —
Greater than 150 days* 5,509 9 5,125 12 (62) — 438 7 8 —
Totals $ 60,505 100%  $ 43,805 100% § 6,824 100% § 6,682 100% § 3,194 100%
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Party Medicare
As of July 31, 2015 Total Y% Payers % Payers % Self Pay Y% HMO’s %
1-30 days $28,157 53 $17,527 50 $ 4,048 52§ 2,991 47 $ 3,591 95
31-60 days 6,650 13 4,109 12 802 10 1,718 27 21 1
61-90 days 4,191 8 2,313 7 578 7 1,276 20 24 1
91-120 days 3,651 7 2,534 7 604 8 474 7 39 1
121-150 days 2,856 4 2,426 7 399 5 3) 0 34 1
Greater than 150 days** 7,187 14 5,878 17 1,329 18 (40) -1 20 1
Totals $ 52,692 100% $ 34,787 100% § 7,760 100% § 6,416 100% § 3,729 100%
* Total includes $2,432 fully reserved over 210 days as of April 30, 2016.
*x Total includes $4,072 fully reserved over 210 days as of July 31, 2015.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under the liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under the liability method, deferred tax assets and liabilities
are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and
their respective tax bases. The liability method requires that any tax benefits recognized for net operating loss carry forwards and other items be reduced by a
valuation allowance where it is not more likely than not the benefits will be realized in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured
using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. Under
the liability method, the effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment
date.

It is the Company’s policy to provide for uncertain tax positions and the related interest and penalties based upon management’s assessment of whether a tax
benefit is more likely than not to be sustained upon examination by tax authorities. To the extent the Company prevails in matters for which a liability for an
unrecognized tax benefit is established or is required to pay amounts in excess of the liability, the Company'’s effective tax rate in a given financial statement
period may be affected.

Inventory

The Company values inventory at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out) or market. Work-in-process and finished goods inventories consist of material, labor, and
manufacturing overhead. Write downs of inventories to market value are based on a review of inventory quantities on hand and estimated sales forecasts based
on sales history and anticipated future demand. Unanticipated changes in demand could have a significant impact on the value of our inventory and require
additional write downs of inventory which would impact our results of operations.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the net assets acquired. Intangible assets (exclusive of patents), arose
primarily from acquisitions, and primarily consist of customer relationships, trademarks, licenses, and website and database content. Finite-lived intangible
assets are amortized according to their estimated useful lives, which range from 4 to 15 years. Patents represent capitalized legal costs incurred in pursuing
patent applications. When such applications result in an issued patent, the related capitalized costs are amortized over a ten year period or the life of the patent,
whichever is shorter, using the straight-line method. The Company reviews its issued patents and pending patent applications, and if it determines to abandon a
patent application or that an issued patent no longer has economic value, the unamortized balance in deferred patent costs relating to that patent is immediately
expensed.

The Company tests goodwill and long-lived assets annually as of the first day of the fourth quarter, or more frequently if indicators of potential impairment exist.
In assessing goodwill and long-lived assets for impairment, the Company has the option to first perform a qualitative assessment to determine whether the
existence of events or circumstances leads to a determination that it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount.
If the Company determines that it is not more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, the Company is not required to
perform any additional tests in assessing goodwill and long-lived assets for impairment. However, if the Company concludes otherwise or elects not to perform
the qualitative assessment, then it is required to perform the first step of a two-step quantitative impairment review process.
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The first step of the quantitative impairment test requires the identification of the reporting units and comparison of the fair value of each of these reporting units
to their respective carrying value. If the carrying value of the reporting unit is less than its fair value, no impairment exists and the second step is not performed.
If the carrying value of the reporting unit is higher than its fair value, the second step must be performed to compute the amount of the goodwill impairment, if
any. In the second step, the impairment is computed by comparing the implied fair value of the reporting unit goodwill with the carrying amount of that goodwill.
If the carrying amount of the reporting unit goodwill exceeds the implied fair value of that goodwill, an impairment loss is recognized for the excess

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We are exposed to market risk from changes in foreign currency exchange rates resulting from acquisitions with foreign locations (See Item 1A. Risk Factors
section of the Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended July 31, 2015) that could impact our results of operations and financial position. We do not currently engage
in any hedging or market risk management tools.

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk

The financial reporting of our non-U.S. subsidiaries is denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar. Since the functional currency of our non-U.S.
subsidiaries is the local currency, foreign currency translation adjustments are accumulated as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income in
stockholders’ equity. Assuming a hypothetical increase of 10% in the value of the U.S. dollar versus foreign currencies at April 30, 2016, our assets and
liabilities would decrease by $0.5 million and $0.1 million, respectively, and our net sales and net earnings (loss) would decrease by $0.8 million and $0.2
million, respectively, on an annual basis.

We also maintain intercompany balances and loans with subsidiaries in different local currencies. These amounts are at risk of foreign exchange losses if
exchange rates fluctuate. Assuming a hypothetical increase of 10% in the value of the U.S. dollar versus foreign currencies, our pre-tax earnings (loss) would be
unfavorably impacted by approximately $1.0 million on an annual basis.

Interest Rate Risk

We are exposed to interest rate risk with our variable rate Credit Agreement which bears interest at the three month LIBOR with a floor of 1.25% plus 4% per
annum. A 3% change in the LIBOR rate would impact our interest expense by $0.1 million.

As of April 30, 2016, we have fixed interest rate financing on transportation and equipment leases.
Item 4. Controls and Procedures
(a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As of the end of the period covered by this report, the Company’s management conducted an evaluation (as required under Rules 13a-15(b) and 15d-15(b)
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”)) of the Company’s “disclosure controls and procedures” (as such term is defined
under the Exchange Act), under the supervision and with the participation of the principal executive officer and the principal financial officer. Based on this
evaluation, the principal executive officer and the principal financial officer concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures are effective as of
the end of the period covered by this report. Notwithstanding the foregoing, a control system, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only
reasonable, not absolute, assurance that it will detect or uncover failures within the Company to disclose material information otherwise required to be set forth

in the Company’s periodic reports.
(b) Changes in Internal Controls over Financial Reporting

There was no change in the Company’s internal controls over financial reporting during the fiscal quarter covered by this report that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART Il - OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

There have been no other material developments with respect to previously reported legal proceedings discussed in the annual report on Form 10-K for the
fiscal year ended July 31, 2015 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, other than as noted in Note 13 to the Consolidated Financial Statements as
of April 30, 2016.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

There have been no material changes from the risk factors disclosed in Part 1, Item 1A of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
July 31, 2015.

Item 6. Exhibits
Exhibit No. Exhibit
10.1 Settlement and Release Agreement between the Company and Agilent Technologies, Inc.
10.2 Settlement and Release Agreement between the Company and Life Technologies Corporation
31.1 Certification of Elazar Rabbani, Ph.D. pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
31.2 Certification of Barry Weiner pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
321 Certification of Elazar Rabbani, Ph.D. pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32.2 Certification of Barry Weiner pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
101. INS* XBRL Instance Document
101. SCH* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
101. CAL* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
101.DEF* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definitions Linkbase Document
101.LAB* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

*XBRL (Extensible Business Reporting Language) information is being furnished and not filed for purposes of Sections 11 and 12 of the Securities Act of 1933
and Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned
thereunto duly authorized.

ENZO BIOCHEM, INC.
(Registrant)

Date: June 8, 2016 by: /s/ Barry Weiner

President, Chief Financial Officer, Principal Accounting Officer, Treasurer
and Director
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EXHIBIT 10.1

SETTLEMENT AND LICENSE AGREEMENT
This SETTLEMENT AND LICENSE AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is made and entered into as of the date of the last signature required by this Agreement (the
“Effective Date”) by and between Plaintiff Enzo Life Sciences, Inc., a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of New York, having offices at 10
Executive Boulevard, Farmingdale, NY 11735 (“Enzo”) and Defendant Agilent Technologies, Inc., a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of

Delaware, having offices at 5301 Stevens Creek Blvd., Santa Clara, CA 95051 (“Agilent”). Enzo and Agilent are individually referred to herein as a “Party,” and collectively as
the “Parties.”

WITNESSETH

WHEREAS, Enzo has alleged that Agilent infringes U.S. Patent No. 7,064,197 (“the ‘197 patent”) in an action styledEnzo Life Sciences, Inc. v. Agilent Technologies, Inc., No.
1:12-cv-434-LPS, pending in the United States District Court for the District of Delaware (the “Litigation”); and

WHEREAS, Agilent denies all liability in the Litigation; and
WHEREAS, Agilent has alleged that it does not infringe the ‘197 patent, and further, that the ‘197 patent is invalid and unenforceable; and
WHEREAS, Enzo disputes Agilent’s allegations of invalidity, unenforceability, and non-infringement; and

WHEREAS, the Parties now desire to settle the Litigation and to provide and receive certain releases, licenses and covenants not to sue, all on the terms and conditions set forth
herein; and

WHEREAS, this Agreement reflects a settlement and compromise between the parties under Federal Rule of Evidence 408 with respect to Enzo’s claims and Agilent’s defenses
in the Litigation, including without limitation on the disputed issues of patent validity, enforceability, and infringement;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the above recitals and the mutual covenants hereinafter contained, the Parties agree as follows:

SECTION 1: DEFINITIONS
As used in this Agreement, the following terms shall have the following meanings:
“Affiliate” means, with respect to a Party, (1) any Person that, as of the Effective Date, is directly or indirectly controlling, controlled by, or under common control with, such

Party, and (2) all future wholly-owned subsidiaries of such Party that are created by the Party in the ordinary course of business or as a result of an internal reorganization of the
Party (e.g., not an



acquisition of, acquisition by, or merger with another Person) and only for so long as that entity is a wholly-owned subsidiary of such Party. For purposes of this Agreement,
“control” means the ability to control the direction of the management and operations of the subject Person, whether through ownership, contract or otherwise. Control will be
presumed where a Party has ownership of 50% or more of the outstanding voting shares of the Person. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, the following Persons
are not, and cannot be considered, Affiliates of Agilent for the purposes of this Agreement so long as any patent infringement litigation or royalty obligation concerning the
Licensed Enzo Patents (or U.S. Patent No. 4,943,523) remains pending between Enzo and that Person (or any Affiliate of that Person): Abbott Laboratories; Abbott Molecular,
Inc.; Becton, Dickinson and Company; Becton, Dickinson Diagnostics, Inc.; Geneohm Sciences, Inc. (now part of Becton Dickinson); Gen-Probe, Inc. (now part of Hologic,
Inc.); Hologic, Inc.; Illumina, Inc.; Life Technologies Corporation (now part of Thermo Fisher Scientific, Inc.); Roche Molecular Systems, Inc. (part of Hoffmann-La Roche
AG); Roche Diagnostics Corporation (part of Hoffmann-La Roche AG); Roche Diagnostics Operations Inc. (part of Hoffmann-La Roche AG); Roche Diagnostics GMBH (part
of Hoffmann-La Roche AG), and Roche Nimblegen, Inc. (part of Hoffmann-La Roche AG); or their respective Affiliates.

“Licensed Agilent Products” means any past, current and future products and services, product lines, devices, instruments, systems, assays, components, kits, hardware,
software, or any combination of the foregoing, for which the making, using, selling, offering for sale, importing, exporting, or other transfer or disposal by Agilent or its
Affiliates would, but for the license granted in this Agreement, infringe a Valid Claim of the Licensed Enzo Patents.

“Licensed Enzo Patents” means (i) U.S. Patent No. 7,064,197; (ii) any patents and patent applications claiming priority to or through, or sharing a common priority claim with,
the foregoing; (iii) any foreign counterparts of any patents and patent applications covered in subparts (i) and (ii); and (iv) any re-issues, re-examinations, renewals, substitutes,
claim amendments made in post-grant proceedings (including IPR and PGR proceedings, oppositions, and limitation proceedings), renewals, extensions, validations,
restorations, revivals, continuations, continuations-in-part, continuing prosecution applications, divisionals, and national phase filings of any patents and patent applications
covered in subparts (i), (ii), and (iii).

“Person” means an individual, trust, corporation, partnership, joint venture, limited liability company, association, unincorporated organization, or other legal entity.

“Third Party” means any Person or entity other than the Parties to this Agreement and their Affiliates.

“Covered Third Party Accused Products” means Third Party products and services that include as an element thereof any Licensed Agilent Products.

“Valid Claim” means a claim of an issued patent that has not expired or been finally held invalid or unenforceable by a court or administrative body of competent jurisdiction
from which no appeal can be or is taken.



SECTION 2: LICENSE, RELEASES, AND COVENANTS

2.1 License. Subject to the terms and conditions hereof, including Agilent’s timely payment of the Payment under Section 3.1, Enzo hereby grants to Agilent and its Affiliates a
fully paid-up non-exclusive, non-transferable (except as set forth in Section 5), worldwide license under the Licensed Enzo Patents to make, have made, develop, have
developed, use, import, export, distribute, sell, have sold, transfer or otherwise dispose of, offer for sale, and practice all processes and methods in connection with, the Licensed
Agilent Products.

Agilent shall not have the right to sublicense or otherwise grant, in whole or in part, licenses under the Licensed Enzo Patents. The license granted herein shall not extend to
cover any products of a Third Party that acquires or is acquired by Agilent or its Affiliates (whether by merger, consolidation, share acquisition, or acquisition of all or
substantially all assets or otherwise), including without limitation for products made, used, imported, exported, distributed, sold, offered for sale, developed, advertised, and
practiced by such Third Party before the date of such acquisition. The license granted herein shall not include any rights to the Licensed Enzo Patents other than those expressly
provided by this section. No license or immunity is granted under this Agreement by Enzo, either directly or by implication, estoppel, or otherwise, to any Person acquiring
Licensed Agilent Products for the modification or combination by such Person of Licensed Agilent Products with other items other than (i) in the ordinary manner in the
ordinary course of use of Licensed Agilent Products, (ii) as specified in Sections 2.2 and 2.3, or (iii) as otherwise permitted by the law of patent exhaustion.

2.2 Enzo Release of Agilent. Subject to the terms and conditions hereof, including Agilent’s timely payment of the Payment under Section 3.1, Enzo, on behalf of itself and its
Affiliates, releases, acquits and absolutely and forever discharges Agilent and its Affiliates, and each of their officers, directors, shareholders (other than Persons, including
Restricted Entities as defined in paragraph 5.3 below, that may have liability for patent infringement unrelated to their status as shareholders of Agilent), managers, employees,
agents, and attorneys (“Agilent Released Persons”) from any claim, counterclaim, demand, allegation, damage, loss, debt, liability, account, reckoning, indemnity, obligation,
cost, expense, lien, attorneys’ fee, any other action or cause of action of any kind or nature, whether now known or unknown, suspected or unsuspected, matured or unmatured,
asserted or unasserted, in law or equity, for (i) infringement of the Licensed Enzo Patents to the extent related to the business of Agilent and occurring before the Effective Date;
(ii) the claims and defenses asserted by and against Enzo and Agilent in, and the conduct of, the Litigation; and (iii) the conduct of settlement negotiations (except for
representations or obligations expressly included in this Agreement).

Enzo also provides a limited release to customers, distributors, resellers, and users of any Licensed Agilent Products for any claim, based on conduct occurring before the
Effective Date, of infringement of the Licensed Enzo Patents by Licensed Agilent Products and Covered Third Party Accused Products but only to the extent that Agilent’s own
conduct with respect to such customer, distributor, reseller, or user infringement would give rise to a colorable claim against Agilent for direct or indirect infringement under 35
U.S.C. § 271 (and/or a claim based on the same types of indirect infringement theories asserted against Agilent in the Litigation), or other law of patent infringement outside the
United States as may be applicable, but for the licenses,



releases, and covenants granted to Agilent herein. For the avoidance of doubt, to the extent any customers, distributors, resellers, or users of any Licensed Agilent Product
infringe the Licensed Enzo Patents for any reason that would not also give rise to a colorable claim against Agilent for direct or indirect infringement under 35 U.S.C. § 271
(and/or a claim based on the same types of indirect infringement theories asserted against Agilent in the Litigation), or other law of patent infringement outside the United States
as may be applicable, but for the licenses, releases, and covenants granted to Agilent herein, such infringement is not released hereunder.

The scope of this release is fixed as of the Effective Date. Except as expressly set forth herein, this release shall not apply to any Person, including without limitation any Third
Party, or any business, assets, or products thereof, acquired by Agilent or its Affiliates (whether by merger, consolidation, share acquisition, or acquisition of all or substantially
all assets or otherwise) after the Effective Date.

Enzo irrevocably waives all rights arising under California Civil Code Section 1542 (and any similar or analogous requirement of law) with respect to the foregoing releases, to
the extent Section 1542 otherwise would apply. Enzo acknowledges and understand that Section 1542 provides that:

A general release does not extend to claims which the creditor does not know or suspect to exist in his favor at the time of executing the release,
which if known by him must have materially affected his settlement with debtor.

2.3 Limited Enzo Covenant Not To Sue. Subject to the terms and conditions hereof, including Agilent’s timely payment of the Payment under Section 3.1, Enzo, on behalf of
itself and its Affiliates, covenants during the term of this Agreement not to sue (1) Agilent or its Affiliates for infringement of the Licensed Enzo Patents; or (2) Agilent’s
distributors, resellers, customers, and users for (i) infringement of the Licensed Enzo Patents by a Licensed Agilent Product, or (ii) infringement of the Licensed Enzo Patents by
a Covered Third Party Accused Product using or containing a Licensed Agilent Product, but only to the extent that Agilent’s own conduct with respect to such customer,
distributor, reseller, or user infringement would give rise to a colorable claim against Agilent for direct or indirect infringement under 35 U.S.C. § 271 (and/or a claim based on
the same types of indirect infringement theories asserted against Agilent in the Litigation), or other law of patent infringement outside the United States as may be applicable,
but for the licenses, releases, and covenants granted to Agilent herein. For the avoidance of doubt, to the extent any customers, distributors, resellers, or users of any Licensed
Agilent Product infringe the Licensed Enzo Patents for any reason that would not also give rise to a colorable claim against Agilent for direct or indirect infringement under 35
U.S.C. § 271 (and/or a claim based on the same types of indirect infringement theories asserted against Agilent in the Litigation), or other law of patent infringement outside the
United States as may be applicable, but for the licenses, releases, and covenants granted to Agilent herein, this covenant does not apply. This covenant not to sue is non-
assignable by Agilent or by any of Agilent’s distributors, resellers, customers, and users who benefit from this covenant not to sue.
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2.4 Agilent Release of Enzo. Agilent, on behalf of itself and its Affiliates, releases, acquits and absolutely and forever discharges Enzo and its Affiliates, and each of their
officers, directors, shareholders, managers, employees, agents, and attorneys from any claim, counterclaim, demand, allegation, damage, loss, debt, liability, account, reckoning,
indemnity, obligation, cost, expense, lien, attorneys’ fee, any other action or cause of action of any kind or nature, whether now known or unknown, suspected or unsuspected,
matured or unmatured, asserted or unasserted, in law or equity, arising out of or related to: (i) infringement of the Licensed Enzo Patents to the extent occurring before the
Effective Date; (ii) the claims and defenses asserted in, and the conduct of, the Litigation; and (iii) the conduct of settlement negotiations (except for representations or
obligations expressly included in this Agreement).

Agilent irrevocably waives all rights arising under California Civil Code Section 1542 (and any similar or analogous requirement of law) with respect to the foregoing releases,
to the extent Section 1542 otherwise would apply. Agilent acknowledges and understand that Section 1542 provides that:

A general release does not extend to claims which the creditor does not know or suspect to exist in his favor at the time of executing the release,
which if known by him must have materially affected his settlement with debtor.

2.5 Covenant Not to Challenge. After the Effective Date and for so long as Agilent’s license is in force, Agilent further covenants that, except as (1) required by law or (2) in
defense of an action for infringing a Licensed Enzo Patent brought against it or its Affiliates, or against its or their agents, representatives, suppliers, vendors, contractors,
manufacturers, distributors, licensees, resellers, licensees, users, and customers (direct or indirect) involving any Licensed Agilent Products, it shall not knowingly and
voluntarily contest (or assist in the contest) in any forum, including Federal Courts, whether under 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201-2202 or not, the United States Patent and Trademark
Office, and/or the International Trade Commission, that the Licensed Enzo Patents are valid and enforceable; provided, however, nothing in this Agreement shall prevent
Agilent or its Affiliates from complying with or responding to any court or governmental order or subpoena relating to the Licensed Enzo Patents. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, nothing in this Agreement will preclude Agilent and its Affiliates from making any disclosure, providing information or producing documents as required by law,
court order or legal process (including, without limitation, litigation related to discovery and/or subpoena), even if made in connection with a proceeding challenging the
validity or enforceability of one or more of the Licensed Enzo Patents, and any such disclosure will not be considered a breach of this Agreement. It is understood that Agilent’s
and its Affiliates’ providing factual statements regarding Licensed Agilent Products or any Third Party products containing them in response to a validly propounded subpoena
will not be considered as assisting in the contest as used above. Agilent reserves the right to raise any and all defenses and counterclaims, including, but not limited to,
invalidity and unenforceability of the Licensed Enzo Patents, and to otherwise contest the validity and enforceability of the Licensed Enzo Patents in any forum, that it could
have raised in the Litigation, if a Licensed Enzo Patent is asserted based on Licensed Agilent Products or Third Party products containing them against Agilent, its Affiliates,
customers, licensees,



partners or users after the Effective Date; and Enzo reserves the right to raise any and all claims and defenses in opposition.

2.6 Limited Standstill. Each Party agrees that it shall not, and that it shall cause each of its Affiliates or representatives not to, file or otherwise bring any action or lawsuit
alleging patent infringement against the other Party for a period of three (3) years after the Effective Date of this Agreement or until the termination of this Agreement,
whichever is earlier (“Standstill Period”). Nothing in this Section 2.6 shall enlarge or otherwise modify the licenses, releases, or covenants set out in this Agreement. The
foregoing provision is personal to the Parties, is non-assignable (except as set forth in Section 5.2), and does not apply to any other Person. Further, it shall not prevent either
Party from engaging in discussions with the other Party or any other Person regarding the licensing of its patents or from enforcing its patents against any Person other than a
Party. During this Standstill Period, any patent infringement claim that one Party has against the other shall be tolled and any damages will accrue and be recoverable to the full
extent permitted by 35 U.S.C. § 286. For clarity, nothing shall prevent the Parties from seeking damages after the Standstill Period terminates for patent infringement occurring
during the Standstill. If either Party violates this Standstill agreement, the other Party shall be free to immediately end the Standstill Period. If a complaint for patent
infringement is filed after expiration of the Standstill Period, no Party may rely on the Standstill Period as a basis for any claim, counterclaim, or defense, including without
limitation an assertion of laches or to defend against an injunction. Notwithstanding the foregoing, a Party still may assert any claim, counterclaim, or defense available,
including without limitation an assertion of laches or a defense against an injunction, to the extent it does not specifically rely on the Standstill Period as a basis. For the
avoidance of doubt, nothing in this provision or any other provision of this Agreement shall prevent either Party from intervening in patent litigation between the other Party
and a Third Party based on any indemnity or other contractual obligation that either Party owes to such Third Party.

2.7 Acquisitions. The licenses, releases, and covenants set forth above shall exclude any products of another Person that is acquired (whether by merger, consolidation, share
acquisition, or acquisition of all or substantially all assets or otherwise) by Agilent or its Affiliates on or after the Effective Date. The standstill set forth above shall not apply to
any action or lawsuit in which the acquired Person is a party and that is pending as of the date of the acquisition of the acquired Person.

2.8 Modifications and Combinations In Manner Other Than Ordinary Course. No license or immunity is granted under this Agreement by Enzo, either directly or by
implication, estoppel, or otherwise, to any Person acquiring Licensed Agilent Products for the modification or combination by such Person of Licensed Agilent Products with
other items other than in the ordinary manner in the ordinary course of use of Licensed Agilent Products, or as specified by Sections 2.2 and 2.3, or as otherwise permitted by
the law of patent exhaustion.

2.9 No Extinguishment Of Other Outstanding Royalty Obligations. For the avoidance of doubt, nothing in this Agreement shall operate to extinguish the obligation of any
Person to pay royalties to Enzo arising from an obligation outside of this Agreement (including via contract, operation of law, judicial ruling, or otherwise).
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2.10 No Other Rights. No rights or covenants are granted under any patents except as expressly provided herein, whether by implication, estoppel or otherwise. No right to grant
covenants, rights, sublicenses, or to become a foundry for Third Parties is granted under this Agreement. The Parties agree that, except as expressly set forth herein, the licenses,
releases and covenants set forth in this Agreement (including Section 2) expressly exclude any methods, systems, products, services and/or components of any Third Party. The
Parties further agree that, except as expressly provided herein, this Agreement does not cut off Enzo’s rights to enjoin, control or extract royalties with respect to such Third
Party’s methods, systems, products, services and/or components.

SECTION 3: MONETARY CONSIDERATION

3.1 Payment. As partial consideration for this Agreement and the dismissal by Enzo of the Litigation hereunder, Agilent agrees to pay to Enzo a total of nine million U.S. Dollars
(8$9,000,000.00) (“Payment”), payable by Agilent to Enzo no later than seven (7) business days following the Effective Date of this Agreement in lawful money of the United
States, in immediately available funds, by wire transfer to the following account: # # #

3.2 Taxes / Costs. Each Party acknowledges that this Agreement may have U.S. federal and state tax (collectively, “Tax”) or other consequences, and that the Party is not
relying on any other Party for advice, representations or communications as to any potential Tax or other consequences. This Agreement is enforceable regardless of its Tax or
other consequences. The Parties agree that they shall bear their own costs and attorneys’ fees relating to or arising from the Litigation and to the documentation and negotiation
of this Agreement.

3.3 Dismissal. Within three (3) court days after the Payment of the consideration to Enzo under this Section 3 has cleared, the Parties shall cause their respective counsel to
execute and file the stipulated motion in the form set forth in Exhibit A dismissing with prejudice all of Enzo’s claims against Agilent in the Litigation. The Parties shall
promptly proceed with any and all additional procedures needed to dismiss the Litigation as set forth above, with each Party to bear its own costs and attorneys’ fees. The
Parties also agree to submit to the court appropriate stipulations and proposed orders for extensions of time for all due dates in the Litigation so that neither Party is required to
incur unnecessary expenses in the Litigation between the Effective Date and the date the Litigation is dismissed. The Parties acknowledge and agree that this Agreement is
enforceable according to its terms with respect to final dismissal with prejudice of all claims and counterclaims in the Litigation.

3.4 No Admission of Liability. This Agreement is the result of a compromise and will not at any time be considered as an admission of liability or responsibility, or lack thereof,
on the part of Enzo or Agilent. By entering into this Agreement, neither Agilent nor any of its Affiliates is conceding that it acted wrongfully in any fashion whatsoever. Except
under this Agreement as expressly set forth in Section 3.1, Agilent and its Affiliates expressly deny that they are liable to Enzo in any way.

3.5 Full Settlement. The Parties agree that this Agreement is in full and complete settlement of the rights and obligations of the Parties in connection with the Litigation. This
Agreement may



be pleaded as a defense to any action, suit or claim and may be used as a basis for an injunction against any such action, suit, claim, or other proceeding of any type which may
be prosecuted, initiated or attempted in violation of the terms hereof. A Party is entitled to recover from the other adverse party reasonable attorneys’ fees and other related legal
expenses incurred in defending against any suit, action or claim brought or attempted by the other party in violation of the terms of this Agreement.

SECTION 4: TERM AND TERMINATION

4.1 Term. The term of this Agreement shall commence upon the Effective Date and shall continue until the expiration of the enforceability period of the last to expire of the
Licensed Enzo Patents, unless earlier terminated as set forth in Section 4.2 below.

4.2 Termination. If Agilent fails to make the payment set forth in Section 3.1 in the time frame required by Section 3.1, then Enzo may terminate this Agreement immediately
upon further written notice to that effect and the license, releases, covenants, and standstill granted by Section 2 of this Agreement shall immediately terminate, be deemed null
and void ab initio, and be of no force and effect.

SECTION 5: ASSIGNMENT

5.1 Assignment. The license and other rights granted by Enzo in this Agreement are personal to Agilent. Except as otherwise permitted in this Section, Agilent may not assign,
delegate, or otherwise transfer this Agreement or any license or rights hereunder without the prior written consent of Enzo. The limitations on assignment set forth in Section 5
do not apply to an internal reorganization of a Party or its Affiliates (re-incorporation or the like). Any other purported assignment, delegation, or transfer without the prior
written consent of Enzo will be null and void ab initio and without effect. Except as set forth in Sections 2.1, 2.2, and 2.3 hereof, nothing herein expressed or implied will give
or be construed to give any Person who is not a Party any legal or equitable rights hereunder.

5.2 Permitted Assignment by Agilent. Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 5.1, Agilent may assign its rights under this Agreement, in whole or in part, without Enzo’s
prior written or oral consent, to a Person with whom Agilent is merged or consolidated, or who acquires all or substantially all of Agilent’s business subject to the Litigation;
provided however, that (1) this Agreement shall not be assigned to multiple Persons; (2) any such assignment of rights will not extend to (a) products or services of such Person
that pre-existed the merger, consolidation or acquisition (or natural evolutions or extensions thereafter), or (b) products or services that are subsequently developed by operating
entities of the Person distinct from the Agilent business so acquired; (3) any such assignment of rights shall not relieve such Person from any obligations that such Person may
have under this Agreement as a result of the merger, consolidation, or acquisition or the assignment of rights by Agilent; (4) the standstill provided in Section 2.6 shall apply
only to patents owned or controlled by Agilent prior to the merger, consolidation, or acquisition; (5) the covenant not to challenge provided in Section 2.5 shall not apply to any
challenge by such Person that was pending prior to the merger, consolidation, or acquisition or
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that is commenced in response to or in connection with a suit or threat of suit by Enzo for infringement of a Licensed Enzo Patent; and (6) Agilent obtains from such Person a
written agreement to be bound by the terms and conditions of this Agreement (as modified by this section) and furnishes the same to Enzo.

In the event that Agilent does not continue to exist as a distinct operating entity (such as a wholly-owned subsidiary) after the transaction, the rights of Agilent hereunder so
assigned only extend to Licensed Agilent Products existing as of the date of the transaction and natural evolutions of Licensed Agilent Products created after the date of the
transaction, and will not otherwise extend to any products, services, or activities of the acquiring Person prior to, on or after the date of the transaction. Furthermore, in the event
that Agilent does not continue to exist as a distinct operating entity (such as a wholly-owned subsidiary) after the transaction, the releases and covenants provided by Agilent
and its Affiliates shall run with the rights being assigned or transferred and shall be binding on any permitted successors-in-interest, transferees, or assigns thereof, except that
(1) the standstill provided in Section 2.6 shall apply only to patents owned or controlled by Agilent prior to the merger, consolidation, or acquisition; and (ii) the covenant not to
challenge provided in Section 2.5 shall not apply to any challenge by such successor-in-interest, transferee, or assign that was pending prior to the merger, consolidation, or
acquisition or that is commenced in response to or in connection with a suit or threat of suit by Enzo for infringement of a Licensed Enzo Patent. For avoidance of doubt, any
such assignment of rights will not extend to any Third Party products or services existing prior to the time of transaction or natural evolutions or extensions thereof. Any
purported assignment, delegation, or transfer under this Section 5.2 that does not comply with the foregoing will be null and void ab initio and without effect.

5.3 Further Restriction on Assignment by Agilent: Notwithstanding the provisions of Sections 5.1 and 5.2, in no event may this Agreement, including the license and rights
granted hereunder, be assigned, delegated, or otherwise transferred without Enzo’s prior written consent to any of the following: Abbott Laboratories; Abbot Molecular, Inc.;

Becton, Dickinson and Company; Becton, Dickinson Diagnostics, Inc.; Geneohm Sciences, Inc. (now part of Becton Dickinson); Gen-Probe, Inc. (now part of Hologic, Inc.);
Hologic, Inc.; Illumina, Inc.; Life Technologies Corporation (now part of Thermo Fisher Scientific, Inc.); Roche Molecular Systems, Inc. (part of Hoffmann-La Roche AG);
Roche Diagnostics Corporation (part of Hoffmann-La Roche AG); Roche Diagnostics Operations Inc. (part of Hoffmann-La Roche AG); and Roche Nimblegen, Inc. (part of
Hoffmann-La Roche AG); or any of the respective Affiliates of any of the foregoing (each a “Restricted Entity”), so long as any patent infringement litigation concerning any of
the Licensed Enzo Patents remains pending between Enzo and the respective aforementioned Restricted Entities.

5.4 Stock Purchase and Similar Transactions. For the avoidance of doubt, a Third Party’s (including a Person with whom Agilent is merged or consolidated, a Person who
acquires all or substantially all of Agilent’s business subject to the Litigation, and any Restricted Entity) acquisition of Agilent by stock purchase, reverse triangular merger, or
similar transaction does not constitute an assignment of the Agreement by Agilent where Agilent (or its successor entity) continues to exist as a distinct operating entity (for
example, as a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Person or Restricted Entity) after the date of the acquisition, provided that the licenses,
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covenants, and releases granted herein shall not extend to (a) products or services of such Person or Restricted Entity that pre-existed the merger, consolidation or acquisition (or
natural evolutions or extensions thereafter), or (b) products or services that are subsequently developed by operating entities of the Person distinct from the Agilent business so
acquired.

5.5 Permitted Assignment by Enzo. All license rights, releases, and covenants, and other obligations contained herein shall run with the Licensed Enzo Patents, as it applies to

the license rights and covenants contained in Sections 2.1 through 2.6, inclusive, and shall be binding on any successors-in-interest or assigns thereof. For the avoidance of
doubt, any assignment of a Licensed Enzo Patent to any other Person shall be subject to this Agreement.

SECTION 6: MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

6.1 Representations:

6.1.1 Enzo Representations: Enzo represents and warrants that: (i) as of the Effective Date, Enzo and/or its Affiliates own the Licensed Enzo Patents, (ii) Enzo has the
right (or the ability to require its Affiliates, as may be applicable) to grant the license, releases, and covenants with respect to the Licensed Enzo Patents and the standstill set
forth herein; (iii) as of the Effective Date, it has not assigned or otherwise transferred to any other Person any rights to the Licensed Enzo Patents that would prevent Enzo from
conveying the rights set forth herein; and (iv) the person executing this Agreement on behalf of Enzo has the full right and authority to enter into this Agreement on Enzo’s
behalf.

6.1.2 Agilent Representations: Agilent represents and warrants that: (i) as of the Effective Date, Agilent has the right to grant the releases and covenants set forth
herein; and (ii) the person executing this Agreement on behalf of Agilent has the full right and authority to enter into this Agreement on Agilent’s behalf.

6.1.3 Disclaimer of Representation. Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed as (i) a representation or warranty by Enzo as to the scope, validity, or enforceability
of any patent; (ii) a representation or warranty that the manufacture, use, or sale of any products will not utilize or infringe any intellectual property rights; and (iii) any
obligation by Enzo to pay annuities or otherwise maintain any patents in force in any country.

6.2 Confidentiality. From and after the Effective Date, neither Party shall disclose the existence or terms of this Agreement except:

6.2.1 with the prior written consent of the other Party;

6.2.2 to any governmental body having jurisdiction and specifically requiring such disclosure;

6.2.3 in response to a valid document request or subpoena or as otherwise may be required by law, legal process or order of a court, provided a protective order is in
place that limits disclosure of such information to outside counsel only and the disclosing Party provides
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the other Party with written notice at least ten (10) business days prior to disclosure to permit the other Party the opportunity to object and/or to seek a court-entered protective
order or comparable court-ordered restriction, and shall reasonably cooperate with the other Party in its efforts to obtain that protective order and take all other reasonable
actions in an effort to minimize the nature and extent of such disclosure and obtain confidential treatment to the extent available;

6.2.4 for the purposes of disclosure in connection with the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and any other
reports filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (expressly including, but not limited to, Form 8K disclosures), or any other filings, reports or disclosures that may
be required under applicable laws or regulations;

6.2.5 to a Party’s accountants, legal counsel, tax advisors and other financial and legal advisors and other professional advisors in their capacity of advising the party
in such matters, subject to obligations of confidentiality and/or privilege at least as stringent as those contained herein;

6.2.6 with obligations of confidentiality at least as stringent as those contained herein, to a counterparty in connection with a proposed merger, acquisition, financing or
similar transaction.

6.2.7 in connection with tax audits or to fulfill its corporate financial reporting obligations under GAAP;

6.2.8 with obligations of confidentiality at least as stringent as those contained herein, by any Party and its Affiliates as required to enforce this Agreement or establish
rights hereunder;

6.2.9 to officers, key shareholders and/or employees with a need to know, attorneys, accountants and directors, who are under obligations of confidentiality (which
may include professional responsibility obligations) at least as stringent as those contained herein; and

6.2.10 to its Affiliates, who are similarly bound by this Agreement or under obligations of confidentiality at least as stringent as those contained herein.
6.2.11 to Third Parties who make, develop, sell, offer to sell, export, import, distribute, resell, or otherwise dispose of any Licensed Agilent Product or who make,
develop, sell, offer to sell, export, import, distribute, resell, or otherwise dispose of any Covered Third Party Accused Product, and who have a need to know, under obligations

of confidentiality at least as stringent as those contained herein.

Notwithstanding anything else in this Agreement to the contrary, a Party may also disclose to anyone any information that is publicly available, through no breach by any Party
of the confidentiality obligations hereunder.
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6.3 Notices. All notices required or permitted to be given hereunder shall be in writing and shall be delivered by hand, or, if dispatched by prepaid air courier, with package
tracing capabilities or by registered or certified airmail, postage prepaid, addressed as follows:

If to Enzo:

Dr. Elazar Rabbani
Enzo Life Sciences, Inc.
527 Madison Avenue
New York, NY 10022

Copy to (which does not constitute notice):

Michael Stadnick
Desmarais LLP

230 Park Avenue
New York, NY 10169

If to Agilent:

Office of the General Counsel/Chief Legal Officer
Agilent Technologies, Inc.

5301 Stevens Creek Boulevard

Santa Clara, CA 95051

Copy to (which does not constitute notice):

Jack B. Blumenfeld

Morris, Nichols, Arsht & Tunnell LLP
1201 North Market Street, 16th Floor
P.O. Box 1347

Wilmington, DE 19899-1347

Such notices shall be deemed to have been served when received by addressee. Either Party may give written notice of a change of address and, after notice of such change has
been received, any notice or request shall thereafter be given to such Party as above provided at such changed address.

6.4 Publicity. Neither Party will issue a press release or any other public announcement regarding this Agreement or the settlement of the Litigation unless the other Party
provides prior consent in writing. Notwithstanding the foregoing and Section 6.2 above, upon inquiry either Party may state that Enzo and Agilent have entered into a
settlement agreement.
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6.5 Governing Law / Jurisdiction. This Agreement and matters connected with the performance thereof shall be construed, interpreted, applied and governed in all respects in
accordance with the laws of the United States of America and the State of Delaware, without reference to conflict of laws principles. Enzo and Agilent agree (a) that all disputes
and litigation regarding this Agreement, its construction and matters connected with its performance be subject to the exclusive jurisdiction of the state and federal courts in the
District of Delaware (the “Court”), and (b) to submit any disputes, matters of interpretation, or enforcement actions arising with respect to the subject matter of this Agreement
exclusively to the Court. The Parties hereby waive any challenge to the jurisdiction or venue of the Court over these matters.

6.6 Sophisticated Parties Represented by Counsel. The Parties each warrant and represent that (i) they are sophisticated parties represented at all relevant times during the
negotiation and execution of this Agreement by counsel of their choice, and that they have executed this Agreement with the consent and on the advice of such independent
legal counsel; (ii) they and their counsel have determined through independent investigation and robust, arm’s-length negotiation that the terms of this Agreement shall
exclusively embody and govern the subject matter of this Agreement, (iii) it investigated the facts pertinent to this Agreement as it deemed necessary, (iv) no other Person or
Party, nor any agent or attorney of a Party, made any promise, representation or warranty whatsoever, express or implied, not contained in this Agreement concerning the
subject matter of this Agreement to induce it to execute this Agreement, (v) it has not executed this Agreement in reliance on any promise, representation or warranty
whatsoever, express or implied, not contained in this Agreement concerning the subject matter of this Agreement, and (vi) it has not executed this Agreement in reliance on any
promise, representation or warranty not contained herein. The Parties included this paragraph to preclude any claim that any Party was fraudulently induced to execute this
Agreement and to preclude the introduction of parol evidence to vary, interpret, supplement or contradict the terms of this Agreement.

6.7 Bankruptcy. The Parties acknowledge and agree that all rights and licenses granted by Enzo under or pursuant to this Agreement are, and will otherwise be deemed to be, for
purposes of Section 365(n) of the United States Bankruptcy Code, as amended (the “Bankruptcy Code”), licenses of rights to “intellectual property” as defined under Section
101 of the Bankruptcy Code. The Parties agree that, notwithstanding anything else in this Agreement, Agilent and its Affiliates, as the licensee of such intellectual property
rights under this Agreement, will retain and may fully exercise all of its rights and elections under the Bankruptcy Code (including, without limitation, a Agilent and its
Affiliates’ right to the continued enjoyment of the rights and licenses granted by Enzo under this Agreement). Notwithstanding the foregoing, this Agreement shall be deemed
and treated as an executory contract under Section 365 of the Bankruptcy Code and is subject to the restrictions on assumption and assignment in section 365(c). Further, this
provision shall not alleviate or contravene the restrictions on assignments and acquisitions set forth in this Agreement.

6.8 No Laundering. The Parties understand and acknowledge that the licenses, releases, and covenants granted to Agilent and its Affiliates by Enzo hereunder are intended to
cover only the bona fide products or services of Agilent and its Affiliates and are not intended to cover patent laundering activities (i.e., activities that are undertaken solely for
the purpose of improperly
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extending licensed rights to cover any activity of any third party acting outside the scope of Agilent’s or its Affiliates’ licensed activities). The Parties further agree that a
purchase of a product from a supplier and resale of such product in substantially the same form back to the same suppler is not licensed under this Agreement. Nothing in this
Agreement shall be construed to license sham sales or sham service contracts executed by Agilent or any of its Affiliates with any third party solely for the purpose of
improperly extending licensed rights to cover any activity of any third party acting outside the scope of Agilent’s (or its Affiliates’) licensed activities.

6.9 Severability. If any provision of this Agreement is held to be illegal or unenforceable, such provision shall be limited or eliminated to the minimum extent necessary so that
the remainder of this Agreement will continue in full force and effect and be enforceable. The Parties agree to negotiate in good faith an enforceable substitute provision for any
invalid or unenforceable provision that most nearly achieves the intent of such provision.

6.10 Entire Agreement. The Parties hereby agree that (i) this is an enforceable agreement; (ii) this Agreement constitutes the entire and only understanding of each of them with
respect to the subject matter of the Agreement, and merges, supersedes and cancels all previous agreements and understandings, whether oral or written, with respect to the
subject matter of the Agreement; (iii) no oral explanation or oral information by any Party hereto shall alter the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement; (iv) the terms and
conditions of this Agreement may be altered, modified, changed or amended only by a written agreement that identifies itself as an amendment to this Agreement and is
executed by duly authorized representatives of Enzo and Agilent; (v) the language of this Agreement has been approved by counsel for each of them, and shall be construed as a
whole according to its fair meaning; and (vi) none of the them (nor their respective counsel) shall be deemed to be the draftsman of this Agreement in any action which may
hereafter arise with respect to the Agreement.

6.11 Modification; Waiver. No modification or amendment to this Agreement, nor any waiver of any rights, will be effective unless assented to in writing by the Party to be
charged, and the waiver of any breach or default will not constitute a waiver of any other right hereunder or any subsequent breach or default.

6.12 Construction: Language. Any rule of construction to the effect that ambiguities are to be resolved against the drafting Party will not be applied in the construction or
interpretation of this Agreement. As used in this Agreement, the words “include” and “including” and variations thereof, will not be deemed to be terms of limitation, but rather
will be deemed to be followed by the words “without limitation.” The headings in this Agreement will not be referred to in connection with the construction or interpretation of
this Agreement. This Agreement is in the English language only, which language shall be controlling in all respects, and all notices under this Agreement shall be in the English

language.

6.13 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts or duplicate originals, both of which shall be regarded as one and the same instrument, and which shall be
the official and governing version in the interpretation of this Agreement. This Agreement may be executed by

14



facsimile signatures or other electronic means and such signatures shall be deemed to bind each Party as if they were original signatures.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be signed below by their respective duly authorized officers.

Enzo Life Sciences, Inc.

By: /s/ Elazar Rabbani
Name: Elazar Rabbani
Title: Chairman and CEO
Date: 1/4/16

Agilent Technologies, Inc.

By: /s/ Jacob Thaysen

Name: Jacob Thaysen

Title:  President, Diagnostics and Genomics Group, Agilent
Technologies, Inc.

Date: 1/4/16
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EXHIBIT A
STIPULATED MOTION FOR DISMISSAL OF LITIGATION

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

OF DELAWARE
ENZO LIFE SCIENCES, INC. ) C.A.NO. 12-434-LPS
)
vs. )
)
AGILENT TECHNOLOGIES, INC. )
)
Defendant. )
)
)

JOINT STIPULATION OF DISMISSAL WITH PREJUDICE

Pursuant to Rule 41(a)(1)(A)(ii) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, Plaintiff, Enzo Life Sciences, Inc., and Defendant Agilent Technologies, Inc., by and through
their respective counsel, hereby stipulate to the dismissal with prejudice of this action, including all claims and defenses. Each party shall bear its own attorneys’ fees and costs.

Respectfully submitted,
FARNAN LLP MORRIS NICHOLS ARSHT &TUNNELL LLP
Brian E. Farnan (#4089) Jack B. Blumenfeld (#1014)
919 North Market Street, 12 Fir Derek J. Fahnestock (#4705)
Wilmington, DE 19801 1201 North Market Street
(302) 777-0336 P.O. Box 1347
bfarnan@farnanlaw.com Wilmington, DE 19899
(302) 658-9200
Attorneys for Plaintiff jblumenfeld@mnat.com
Enzo Life Sciences, Inc. dfahnestock@mnat.com

Attorneys for Defendant
Agilent Technologies, Inc.



Exhibit 10.2
SETTLEMENT AND LICENSE AGREEMENT

This SETTLEMENT AND LICENSE AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is made and entered into as of May 16, 2016 (the ‘Effective Date™) by and between Plaintiff
Enzo Life Sciences, Inc.,a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of New York, having offices at 10 Executive Boulevard, Farmingdale, NY 11735
(“Enzo”), and Defendant Life Technologies Corporation, a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of Delaware, having offices at 5791 Van Allen Way,
Carlsbad, California, 92008 (“Life”). Enzo and Life are individually referred to herein as a ‘Party,” and collectively as the “Parties.”

WITNESSETH

WHEREAS, Enzo has alleged that Life infringes U.S. Patent Nos. 6,992,180 (the ‘180 patent”) and 7,064,197 (the “197 patent”) (collectively, the “Patents-in-Suit”) in an
action styled Enzo Life Sciences, Inc. v. Life Technologies Corporation, No. 1:12-cv-105-LPS, pending in the United States District Court for the District of Delaware (the
“Litigation”) and

WHEREAS, Life has alleged that it does not infringe either the ‘180 patent or the ‘197 patent, and further, that the ‘180 patent and the 197 patent are invalid and
unenforceable; and

WHEREAS, Enzo disputes Life’s allegations of invalidity, unenforceability, and non-infringement; and

WHEREAS, the Parties now desire to settle the Litigation and to provide and receive certain releases, licenses and covenants not to sue, all on the terms and conditions set forth
herein; and

WHEREAS, this Agreement reflects a settlement and compromise between the Parties under Federal Rule of Evidence 408 with respect to Enzo’s claims and defenses and
Life’s counterclaims and defenses in the Litigation, including without limitation on the disputed issues of patent validity, enforceability, and infringement;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the above promises and mutual covenants hereinafter contained, the Parties agree as follows:
SECTION 1: DEFINITIONS
As used in this Agreement, the following terms shall have the following meanings:

“Accused Life ‘180 Products” means (1) all past and current products that, as of the Effective Date, have been and/or are made, used, imported, sold, and/or offered for sale by
Life or its Affiliates that have been accused of infringing the ‘180 patent in the Litigation; (2) any past or current products made, used, imported, sold, and/or offered for sale by
Life or its Affiliates that operate in substantially the same manner as the products in (1) with respect to the inventions claimed in the ‘180 Patent and/or infringement theories set
forth in Enzo’s Infringement Contentions and Infringement Charts to Life in the Litigation concerning the ‘180 patent; and (3) any future products made, used, imported, sold,
and/or offered for sale by Life or its Affiliates



that are comparable to (1), insofar as they operate in substantially the same manner with respect to the inventions claimed in the ‘180 Patent and/or Enzo’s Infringement
Contentions and Infringement Charts to Life in the Litigation. For the avoidance of doubt under this Agreement, “Accused Life ‘180 Products” includes, without limitation,
Life’s past and current TagMan Gene Expression assays, TagMan SNP Genotyping assays, TagMan Drug Metabolism Genotyping Assays, TagMan Copy Number Variation
assays, TagMan Mutation Detection Assays, TagMan MicroRNA assays, TagMan siRNA assays, TagMan Non-coding RNA assays, Custom TagMan Probes, and Custom
TagMan assays, including Custom TagMan Gene Expression assays, Custom TagMan SNP Genotyping Assays, and Custom and Custom Plus TagMan Copy Number assays,
and Custom TagMan Small RNA assays. For the avoidance of doubt, and notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, Molecular Beacon Probes are not within the scope of
“Accused Life ‘180 Products.”

“Accused Life ‘197 Products” means (1) all past and current products that, as of the Effective Date, have been and/or are made, used, imported, sold, and/or offered for sale by
Life or its Affiliates that have been accused of infringing the ‘197 patent in the Litigation; (2) any past or current products made, used, imported, sold, and/or offered for sale by
Life or its Affiliates that operate in substantially the same manner as the products in (1) with respect to the inventions claimed in the ‘197 Patent and/or infringement theories set
forth in Enzo’s Infringement Contentions and Infringement Charts to Life in the Litigation concerning the ‘197 patent; and (3) any future products made, used, imported, sold,
and/or offered for sale by Life or its Affiliates that are comparable to (1), insofar as they operate in substantially the same manner with respect to the inventions claimed in the
‘197 Patent and/or Enzo’s Infringement Contentions and Infringement Charts to Life in the Litigation. For the avoidance of doubt under this Agreement, “Accused Life
Products” includes, without limitation, Life’s past and current Dynabeads Oligo (dT)25 (all sizes), Dynabeads mRNA DIRECT kits, Dynabeads mRNA Purification kits,
Dynabeads® mRNA DIRECT™ Micro Purification Kit; Ion Proton I Chip (all versions), Ion PI Chip Kits (all versions and sizes), lon 314 Chip Kits (all versions and sizes),
Ton 318 Chip Kits (all versions and sizes), and Ion 316 Chip Kits (all versions and sizes); SOLiD 6-Lane Flow Chip; 5500 W FlowChip V2; NCode Human miRNA
Microarray V3, NCode Multi-Species miRNA Microarray Kit V2, and NCode™ Multi-Species miRNA Pre-printed Microarrays; and NCode Non-coding RNA assay, NCode
Human Non-coding RNA Microarrays, and NCode Mouse Non-coding RNA Microarrays; and the “Stricken Life Products” listed in Exhibit 1 of the district court’s January 12,
2015 order. For the avoidance of doubt, and notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, Molecular Beacon Probes are not within the scope of “Accused Life ‘197
Products.”

“Affiliate” means, with respect to a Party, any Person that, as of the Effective Date, is directly or indirectly controlling, controlled by, or under common control with, such
Party. For purposes of this Agreement, “control” means the direct or indirect ability to control or direct the management and operations of the subject Person, whether through
ownership, contract or otherwise. Control will be presumed where a Party has ownership, direct or indirect, of 50% or more of the outstanding voting shares, securities, equity,
interest or other ownership of the Person. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, the following Persons are not, and cannot be considered, Affiliates of Life for the
purposes of this Agreement so long as any patent infringement litigation or royalty obligation concerning the Licensed Enzo Patents remains

2



pending between Enzo and that Person (or any Affiliate of that Person): Abbott Laboratories; Abbott Molecular, Inc.; Becton, Dickinson and Company; Becton, Dickinson
Diagnostics, Inc.; Geneohm Sciences, Inc. (now part of Becton Dickinson); Gen-Probe, Inc. (now part of Hologic, Inc.); Hologic, Inc.; Illumina, Inc.; Roche Molecular
Systems, Inc. (part of Hoffmann-La Roche AG); Roche Diagnostics Corporation (part of Hoffmann-La Roche AG); Roche Diagnostics Operations Inc. (part of Hoffmann-La
Roche AG); Roche Nimblegen, Inc. (part of Hoffmann-La Roche AG); and Luminex Corporation; or their respective Affiliates.

“Covered Third Party Accused Products” means Third Party products and services that include as an element thereof any Accused Life ‘180 Product or Accused Life ‘197
Product.

“Diagnostic Uses, Applications, and/or Embodiments’ means (1) uses, applications, and/or embodiments ofin vitro diagnostic assays approved by an applicable governmental
authority (e.g., U.S. Food and Drug Administration, or comparable state or non-U.S. body) for use in the applicable territory for determining or assessing a state of health or
disease, or a risk of disease, in a human being, in the medical management of a human being, in an animal, or in the medical or commercial management of an animal, but only
to the extent actually sold or used for any such approved use; and (2) uses, applications, and/or embodiments for in vitro screening of samples that are approved by an applicable
governmental authority (e.g., U.S. Food and Drug Administration, or comparable state or non-U.S. body) for use in the applicable territory for the purpose of assessing
suitability for blood and/or tissue banking, but only to the extent actually sold or used for any such approved use. For the avoidance of doubt, any prior, existing, and/or future
manufacturing, use, and/or sale of a product that at the time of such manufacturing, use, and/or sale is not for a use, application and/or embodiment within the scope of foregoing
(1) or (2) but is subsequently used or sold for a use, application and/or embodiment that is within the scope of foregoing (1) or (2) is within the definition of “Diagnostic Uses,
Applications, and/or Embodiments.”

“Enzo Products” means (1) all past and current products that, as of the Effective Date, have been and/or are made, used, imported, sold, and/or offered for sale by Enzo or its
Affiliates; (2) any past or current products made, used, imported, sold, and/or offered for sale by Enzo or its Affiliates that embody, are substantially similar to, or operate in
substantially the same manner with respect to the inventions claimed in patents owned or licensed by Life or its Affiliates; and (3) any future products made, used, imported,
sold, and/or offered for sale by Enzo or its Affiliates that are comparable to (1), insofar as they operate in substantially the same manner with respect to the inventions claimed in
patents owned or licensed by Life or its Affiliates.

“Enzo’s Infringement Contentions and Infringement Charts” means any and all contentions and/or infringement charts argued or presented by Enzo as part of the Litigation,
including without limitation those contentions and infringement charts attached hereto as Exhibit B.

“Licensed Enzo Patents” means Licensed Enzo ‘180 Patents and Licensed Enzo 197 Patents.

“Licensed Enzo ‘180 Patents” means (i) U.S. Patent No. 6,992,180; (ii) any patents and patent applications claiming priority to or through the patents listed in subparts (i); (iii)
any patents and patent applications to which any of the patents and patent applications covered in subparts (i) and
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(ii) claim priority; and (iv) any foreign counterparts, re-issues, re-examinations, renewals, substitutes, claim amendments made in post-grant proceedings including IPR and
PGR proceedings, extensions, continuations, continuations-in-part, continuing prosecution applications, divisionals, and national phase filings of any patents and patent
applications covered in subparts (i), (ii) and (iii).

“Licensed Enzo ‘197 Patents” means (i) U.S. Patent No. 7,064,197, (ii) any patents and patent applications claiming priority to or through the patents listed in subparts (i); (iii)
any patents and patent applications to which any of the patents and patent applications covered in subparts (i) and (ii) claim priority; and (iv) any foreign counterparts, re-issues,
re-examinations, renewals, substitutes, claim amendments made in post-grant proceedings including IPR and PGR proceedings, extensions, continuations, continuations-in-part,
continuing prosecution applications, divisionals, and national phase filings of any patents and patent applications covered in subparts (i), (ii) and (iii).

“Enzo Patents” means (i) all patents and patent applications owned, controlled, or filed by or assigned to Enzo or its Affiliates as of the Effective Date; (ii) any patents and
patent applications claiming priority to or through any of the foregoing; (iii) any patents and patent applications to which any of the patents and patent applications covered in
subparts (i) and (ii) claim priority; and (iv) any foreign counterparts, re-issues, re-examinations, renewals, substitutes, claim amendments made in post-grant proceedings
including IPR and PGR proceedings, extensions, continuations, continuations-in-part, continuing prosecution applications, divisionals, and national phase filings of any patents
and patent applications covered in subparts (i), (ii) and (iii).

“Immaterial Acquired Third Party” means a Third Party acquired by Life or its Affiliates for fifty million U.S. Dollars ($50,000,000) in the aggregate or less in cash, stock,
assumption of liability, or other consideration of equivalent value. For purposes of this agreement, the following entities and Affiliates thereof shall not qualify as an Immaterial
Acquired Third Party for so long as any patent infringement litigation or royalty obligation concerning the Licensed Enzo Patents exists between Enzo and any such entity or
Affiliates or successors thereof: Abbott Laboratories; Abbott Molecular, Inc.; Becton, Dickinson and Company; Becton, Dickinson Diagnostics, Inc.; Geneohm Sciences, Inc.
(now part of Becton Dickinson); Gen-Probe, Inc. (now part of Hologic, Inc.); Hologic, Inc.; Illumina, Inc.; Roche Molecular Systems, Inc. (part of Hoffmann-La Roche AG);
Roche Diagnostics Corporation (part of Hoffmann-La Roche AG); Roche Diagnostics Operations Inc. (part of Hoffmann-La Roche AG); Roche Nimblegen, Inc. (part of
Hoffmann-La Roche AG).

“Licensed Life Products” means any past, current and future products and services, product lines, devices, instruments, systems, assays, components, kits, hardware, software,
or any combination of the foregoing which are made, used, imported, exported, distributed, sold, or offered for sale by Life or its Affiliates.

“Life Released Parties” means (a) Life and its parents, subsidiaries, predecessors, permitted successors, and permitted assigns(but only, with respect to permitted successors and
assigns, to the extent related to the Licensed Life Products), (b) all Affiliates, directors, officers, individual



shareholders, attorneys, and employees of the persons in (a) solely to the extent of such party’s involvement, on behalf of, Life in developing, making, using, or importing any
Licensed Life Products, (c) any and all distributors, resellers, customers, purchasers and/or end users of any Licensed Life Products, but solely to the extent of their purchase,
possession, use or resale of Licensed Life Products directly or indirectly from Life or its Affiliates, (d) permitted successors and assigns of the foregoing, but only to the extent
that their potential liability derives from Licensed Life Products, and (e) vendors, suppliers, manufacturers, developers, original equipment manufacturers, contractors, and
agents, solely to the extent of such party’s involvement, on behalf of Life, in developing, making, using, or importing any Licensed Life Products. Notwithstanding anything to
the contrary above, for purposes of this agreement, none of the following entities (nor their Affiliates and/or successors) shall be deemed a Life Released Party for so long as
any patent infringement litigation or royalty obligation concerning the Licensed Enzo Patents exists between Enzo and any such entity or Affiliates thereof: Abbott
Laboratories; Abbott Molecular, Inc.; Becton, Dickinson and Company; Becton, Dickinson Diagnostics, Inc.; Geneohm Sciences, Inc. (now part of Becton Dickinson); Gen-
Probe, Inc. (now part of Hologic, Inc.); Hologic, Inc.; Illumina, Inc.; Roche Molecular Systems, Inc. (part of Hoffmann-La Roche AG); Roche Diagnostics Corporation (part of
Hoffmann-La Roche AG); Roche Diagnostics Operations Inc. (part of Hoffmann-La Roche AG); Roche Nimblegen, Inc. (part of Hoffmann-La Roche AG).

“Material Acquired Third Party” means a Third Party acquired by Life or its Affiliates for greater than fifty million U.S. Dollars ($50,000,000) in cash, stock, assumption of
liability, or other consideration of equivalent value. For purposes of this agreement, each of the following entities and Affiliates and successors thereof shall be deemed a
Material Acquired Third Party for so long as any patent infringement litigation or royalty obligation concerning the Licensed Enzo Patents exists between Enzo and any such
entity of Affiliates thereof: Abbott Laboratories; Abbott Molecular, Inc.; Becton, Dickinson and Company; Becton, Dickinson Diagnostics, Inc.; Geneohm Sciences, Inc. (now
part of Becton Dickinson); Gen-Probe, Inc. (now part of Hologic, Inc.); Hologic, Inc.; Illumina, Inc.; Roche Molecular Systems, Inc. (part of Hoffmann-La Roche AG); Roche
Diagnostics Corporation (part of Hoffmann-La Roche AG); Roche Diagnostics Operations Inc. (part of Hoffmann-La Roche AG); Roche Nimblegen, Inc. (part of Hoffmann-La
Roche AG).

“Molecular Beacon Probes” means stem loop nucleic acid hybridization probes having interacting FRET (Férster/fluorescence resonance energy transfer) labels/dyes/moieties
disposed in the stem region(s) of the probe, which FRET labels/dyes/moieties become more distant to each other upon hybridization of such a probe to a target nucleic acid. For
clarity, TagMan probes are not Molecular Beacon Probes.

“Payment” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.1.

“Person” means an individual, trust, corporation, partnership, joint venture, limited liability company, association, unincorporated organization or other legal entity.

“Third Party” means any Person or entity other than the Parties to this Agreement and their Affiliates.
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“Uncovered Products” means Accused Life ‘180 Products and Accused Life ‘197 Products used by Life or its Affiliates that are not or have not been made, imported, sold, or
offered for sale by, for or on behalf of Life or its Affiliates.

SECTION 2: LICENSE, RELEASES AND COVENANTS

2.1 License. Upon Life’s payment of the Payment, Enzo hereby grants to Life Released Parties a fully paid-up, non-exclusive, non-transferable (except as set forth in Section 5),
worldwide license solely under and with respect to the Licensed Enzo Patents in all fields to make, have made, use, import, export, distribute, sell, have sold, offer for sale, and
practice all processes and methods in connection with, the Licensed Life Products.

Enzo further grants Life Released Parties a license solely under and with respect to the Licensed Enzo Patents to (a) convey to customers the right to use the Licensed Life
Products and practice all processes and methods in connection with such Licensed Life Products under the Licensed Enzo Patents, (b) employ Third Party distributors to sell
Licensed Life Products under the Licensed Enzo Patents; (c) convey to Third Parties the right to re-sell Licensed Life Products purchased from Life Released Parties under the
Licensed Enzo Patents, (d) employ Third Party contract manufacturers to make or otherwise use, on behalf of Life or its Affiliates, Licensed Life Products under the Licensed
Enzo Patents, and (e) convey to Third Parties the right to combine or otherwise use Licensed Life Products with other products or components under the Licensed Enzo Patents
but such rights shall not extend to Covered Third Party Products that would give rise to an independent claim of infringement of the Licensed Enzo Patents against such Third
Party. None of the foregoing will be construed as a sublicense. For the avoidance of doubt, Enzo does not confer any rights or covenants to the Licensed Enzo Patents to Third
Party contract manufacturers with respect to any products other than the Licensed Life Products or to any conduct or activity by Third Party contract manufacturers not
performed on behalf of Life or its Affiliates.

Except as expressly set forth herein, Life does not have the right to sublicense or otherwise grant, in whole or in part, licenses under the Licensed Enzo Patents.

2.2 Enzo Release of Life Released Parties. Subject to Life’s payment of the Payment and agreement not to seek repayment of same, Enzo, on behalf of itself and its Affiliates,
releases, acquits and absolutely and forever discharges the Life Released Parties, from any claim, counterclaim, demand, allegation, damage, loss, debt, liability, account,
reckoning, indemnity, obligation, cost, expense, lien, attorneys’ fee, any other action or cause of action of any kind or nature, whether now known or unknown, suspected or
unsuspected, matured or unmatured, asserted or unasserted, in law or equity, for (i) infringement of the Licensed Enzo Patents by or on behalf of Life Released Parties to the
extent occurring before the Effective Date; (ii) claims and counterclaims made, asserted or brought in, or that could have been made, asserted, or brought under the Licensed
Enzo Patents; and (iii) the conduct of settlement negotiations (except for representations or obligations expressly included in this Agreement); provided, however, that Life
Released Parties other than Life and its Affiliates shall not be released from liability for
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infringement that Enzo could not have directly or indirectly brought against Life or its Affiliates themselves. For the avoidance of doubt, any conduct or activity by Life
Released Parties not performed on behalf of or as intended by Life or its Affiliates is expressly excluded from this Section 2.2. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary above,
for purposes of this agreement, none of the following entities (nor their Affiliates and/or successors) shall be deemed released from any liability to Enzo by virtue of this
paragraph: Abbott Laboratories; Abbott Molecular, Inc.; Becton, Dickinson and Company; Becton, Dickinson Diagnostics, Inc.; Geneohm Sciences, Inc. (now part of Becton
Dickinson); Gen-Probe, Inc. (now part of Hologic, Inc.); Hologic, Inc.; Illumina, Inc.; Roche Molecular Systems, Inc. (part of Hoffmann-La Roche AG); Roche Diagnostics
Corporation (part of Hoffmann-La Roche AG); Roche Diagnostics Operations Inc. (part of Hoffmann-La Roche AG); Roche Nimblegen, Inc. (part of Hoffmann-La Roche AG).

2.3 Enzo Covenant Not to Sue Life Released Parties Subject to Life’s payment of the Payment, Enzo, on behalf of itself and its Affiliates, covenants during the term of this
Agreement not to directly or indirectly commence or prosecute, cause to be commenced or prosecuted, or assist in the commencement or prosecution of any action, suit,
arbitration, or proceeding of any kind anywhere in the world against any of the Life Released Parties for infringement of any of (i) the Licensed Enzo Patents practiced in any
field; or (ii) the Enzo Patents by the Accused Life ‘180 Products or Accused Life ‘197 Products except for Diagnostic Uses, Applications, and/or Embodiments or by Uncovered
Products; provided, however, that Life Released Parties other than Life and its Affiliates shall not be released from, and this Covenant Not to Sue shall not extend to matters
concerning, liability for infringement that Enzo could not have brought against Life or its Affiliates themselves. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if Life Released Parties or any
permitted successors, assigns, or other Person who permissibly assumes Life’s rights and obligations under this Agreement directly or indirectly commences or causes to be
commenced any action, suit, arbitration, or proceeding of any kind anywhere in the world against Enzo or its Affiliates for infringement of a patent owned or licensed by Life or
its Affiliates as of the Effective Date by an Enzo Product for Diagnostic Uses, Applications, and/or Embodiments, then subsection (ii) of the foregoing Covenant Not to Sue
shall immediately terminate, be deemed null and void ab initio, and be of no force and effect except if patent infringement is raised by Life or its Affiliates as a counterclaim or
defense. Any such termination under subsection (ii) of the Covenant Not to Sue Life Released Parties shall not apply to the foregoing subsection (i) (the covenant not to sue
Life Released Parties for infringement of the Licensed Enzo Patents). This section 2.3 does not impact Enzo’s ability to prosecute action under Section 6.5. For the avoidance of
doubt, Enzo does not confer any rights or covenants to the Enzo Patents to Third Party contract manufacturers with respect to any products other than the Licensed Life
Products or to any conduct and/or activity by Third Party contract manufacturers not performed on behalf of Life of its Affiliates. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary
above, for purposes of this agreement, none of the following entities (nor their Affiliates and/or successors) shall be deemed subject to the covenants set forth in this paragraph
for so long as any patent infringement litigation or royalty obligation concerning the Licensed Enzo Patents exists between Enzo and any such entity or Affiliates thereof:
Abbott Laboratories; Abbott Molecular, Inc.; Becton, Dickinson and Company; Becton, Dickinson Diagnostics, Inc.; Geneohm Sciences, Inc. (now part of Becton Dickinson);
Gen-Probe, Inc. (now part of Hologic, Inc.); Hologic, Inc.; Illumina, Inc.; Roche Molecular Systems, Inc. (part of Hoffmann-La Roche AG); Roche Diagnostics
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Corporation (part of Hoffmann-La Roche AG); Roche Diagnostics Operations Inc. (part of Hoffmann-La Roche AG); Roche Nimblegen, Inc. (part of Hoffmann-La Roche AG).

2.4 Life Release of Enzo. Life, on behalf of itself and its Affiliates, releases, acquits and absolutely and forever discharges Enzo and its Affiliates, officers, directors,
shareholders, managers, employees, agents, and attorneys from any claim, counterclaim, demand, allegation, damage, loss, debt, liability, account, reckoning, indemnity,
obligation, cost, expense, lien, attorneys’ fee, any other action or cause of action of any kind or nature, whether now known or unknown, suspected or unsuspected, matured or
unmatured, asserted or unasserted, in law or equity, arising out of or related to: (i) the Licensed Enzo Patents; (ii) the claims, defenses, and counterclaims asserted in, and the
conduct of, the Litigation; and (iii) the conduct of settlement negotiations (except for representations or obligations expressly included in this Agreement); provided, however,
that Life does not release and preserves the right to raise any and all defenses and counterclaims, including, but not limited to, invalidity and unenforceability of the Licensed
Enzo Patents, that it could have raised in the Litigation, and to otherwise contest the validity and enforceability of the Licensed Enzo Patents in any forum, if a Licensed Enzo
Patent is asserted against Life Released Parties after the Effective Date in an action not initiated by any of the Life Released Parties.

2.5 Covenant Not to Challenge. After the Effective Date and for so long as Life’s license is in force, Life further covenants that, except as (1) required by law or (2) in defense
of a threatened or actual action, suit or proceeding of any kind alleging a claim for infringement of any Licensed Enzo Patents brought against any Life Released Parties, it shall
not knowingly and voluntarily contest, or assist in the contest, or encourage any other Person to contest, in any forum, including Federal Courts, whether under 28 U.S.C. §§
2201-2202 or not, the United States Patent and Trademark Office, and/or the International Trade Commission, that the Licensed Enzo Patents are valid and enforceable;
provided, however, nothing in this Agreement shall prevent Life or its Affiliates from complying with or responding to any court or governmental order or subpoena relating to
the Licensed Enzo Patents. Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing in this Agreement will preclude Life and its Affiliates from making any disclosure, providing information or
producing documents as required by law, court order or legal process (including, without limitation, litigation related to discovery and/or subpoena), even if made in connection
with a proceeding challenging the validity or enforceability of one or more of the Licensed Enzo Patents, and any such disclosure will not be considered a breach of this
Agreement. It is understood that Life’s and its Affiliates” providing factual statements regarding Licensed Life Products or any Third Party products containing them in
response to a validly propounded subpoena, will not be considered as assisting in the contest as used above. Life and its Affiliates reserve the right to raise any and all defenses
and counterclaims, including, but not limited to, invalidity and unenforceability of the Licensed Enzo Patents, and to otherwise contest the validity and enforceability of the
Licensed Enzo Patents in any forum, that it could have raised in the Litigation, if any of the Licensed Enzo Patents is asserted based on Licensed Life Products against Life
Released Parties after the Effective Date; and Enzo reserves the right to raise any and all claims and defenses in opposition.

2.6 After-acquired Entities. The releases, licenses and covenants not to sue, and their scope, as set forth herein apply to any Immaterial Acquired Third Party acquired by Life or
its Affiliates



(whether by merger, consolidation, share acquisition, or acquisition of all or substantially all assets or otherwise) after the Effective Date. The licenses, releases, and covenants
set forth above shall not apply to and shall exclude any products of any Material Acquired Third Party that is acquired by Life or its Affiliates (whether by merger,
consolidation, share acquisition, or acquisition of all or substantially all assets or otherwise) on or after the Effective Date; provided, however, that this provision will not
derogate from any right, privilege, or immunity such Person may already have under the Licensed Enzo Patents. The Parties recognize that Life has entered into a transaction
whereby Affymetrix, Inc. will become an Affiliate of Life and, upon the close of such transaction, the rights, covenants, privileges, and immunities mutually granted in this
Agreement shall extend to products and services of Affymetrix, Inc. and its Affiliates.

2.7 No Extinguishment Of Other Outstanding Royalty Obligations. For the avoidance of doubt, nothing in this Agreement shall operate to extinguish the obligation of any
Person to pay royalties to Enzo arising from an obligation outside of this Agreement (including via contract, operation of law, judicial ruling, or otherwise).

2.8 No Other Rights. No rights or covenants are granted under any patents except as expressly provided herein, whether by implication, estoppel or otherwise. No right to grant
covenants, rights, sublicenses, or to become a foundry for Third Parties is granted under this Agreement. For the avoidance of doubt, Enzo does not confer any rights or
covenants to the Licensed Enzo Patents or Enzo Patents to Third Party contract manufacturers with respect to products other than the Licensed Life Products or to any conduct
or activity by Third Party contract manufacturers not performed on behalf of Life of its Affiliates. The Parties agree that, except as expressly set forth elsewhere in this
Agreement, the licenses, releases and covenants set forth in this Agreement (including Section 2) expressly exclude any methods, systems, products, services and/or
components of any Third Party and this Agreement does not cut off Enzo’s rights to enjoin, control or extract royalties with respect to such Third Party’s methods, systems,
products, services and/or components.

2.9 Waiver of California Civil Code Section 1542. It is the intention of the Parties in executing this Agreement that this Agreement is effective as a full and final accord and
satisfaction and mutual release of the matters set forth in Sections 2.2 and 2.4. Each of the releases set forth in Sections 2.2 and 2.4 constitutes a waiver of any and all rights
under California Civil Code Section 1542 (and any similar or analogous requirement of law), to the extent Section 1542 otherwise would apply. The parties understand that
Section 1542 provides as follows:

A general release does not extend to claims which the creditor does not know or suspect to exist in his or her favor at the time of executing the
release, which if known by him or her must have materially affected his or her settlement with the debtor.

SECTION 3: MONETARY CONSIDERATION

3.1 Payment. As partial consideration for this Agreement and the dismissal by Enzo of the Litigation against Life hereunder, Life agrees to pay to Enzo a total of thirty-five
million U.S.



Dollars ($35,000,000) (“Payment”), payable by Life to Enzo no later than seven (7) business days following the Effective Date of this Agreement in lawful money of the United
States, in immediately available funds, by wire transfer to the following account: # # #

3.2 Taxes / Costs. Each Party acknowledges that this Agreement may have U.S. federal and state tax (collectively, ‘Tax”) or other consequences, and that the Party is not
relying on any other Party for advice, representations or communications as to any potential Tax or other consequences. This Agreement is enforceable regardless of its Tax or
other consequences. The Parties agree that they shall bear their own costs and attorneys’ fees relating to or arising from the Litigation and to the documentation and negotiation
of this Agreement.

3.3 Dismissal. Within three (3) court days after the Payment to Enzo under this Section 3 has cleared, the Parties shall cause their respective counsel to execute and file the
stipulated motion in the form set forth in Exhibit A dismissing with prejudice all of Enzo’s claims and counterclaims against Life in the Litigation and dismissing without
prejudice all of Life’s claims and counterclaims against Enzo in the Litigation. The Parties shall promptly proceed with any and all additional procedures needed to dismiss the
Litigation as set forth above, with each Party to bear its own costs and attorneys’ fees. The Parties also agree to submit to the court appropriate stipulations and proposed orders
for extensions of time for all due dates in the Litigation so that neither Party is required to incur unnecessary expenses in the Litigation between the Effective Date and the date
the Litigation is dismissed. The Parties acknowledge and agree that this Agreement is enforceable according to its terms with respect to final dismissal of all claims and
counterclaims in the Litigation.

3.4 No Admission of Liability. This Agreement is the result of a compromise and will not at any time be considered as an admission of liability or responsibility, or lack thereof,
on the part of Enzo or Life. By entering into this Agreement, neither Life nor any of its Affiliates is conceding that it acted wrongfully in any fashion whatsoever. Except as
expressly set forth in Section 3.1, Life and its Affiliates expressly deny that they are liable to Enzo in any way.

3.5 Full Settlement. The Parties agree that this Agreement is in full and complete settlement of the remaining rights and obligations between the Parties in connection with the
Litigation. This Agreement may be pleaded as a defense to any action, suit or claim and may be used as a basis for an injunction against any such action, suit, claim, or other
proceeding of any type which may be prosecuted, initiated or attempted in violation of the terms hereof. A Party is entitled to recover from the other adverse Party reasonable
attorneys’ fees and other related legal expenses incurred in defending against any suit, action or claim brought or attempted by the other Party in violation of the terms of this
Agreement
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SECTION 4: TERM AND TERMINATION

4.1 Term. The term of this Agreement shall commence upon the Effective Date and shall continue until the expiration of the enforceability period for the last-to-expire of the
Enzo Patents, unless earlier terminated as set forth in Section 4.2 below.

4.2 Termination. If Life fails to make the Payment set forth in Section 3.1 in the time frame required by Section 3.1, then Enzo may terminate this Agreement immediately upon
further written notice to that effect and the license, releases, and covenants granted by Section 2 of this Agreement shall immediately terminate, be deemed null and void ab
initio, and be of no force and effect. Once the payment set forth in Section 3.1 is made, this Agreement (including the licenses, releases and dismissals in this Agreement) will
be irrevocable and non-terminable except by written agreement of all of the Parties.

SECTION 5: ASSIGNMENT

5.1 Assignment. The license and other rights granted by Enzo in this Agreement are personal to Life. Except as expressly permitted in this Section, Life may not assign,
delegate, or otherwise transfer this Agreement or any license or rights hereunder without the prior written consent of Enzo. The limitations on assignment set forth in Section 5
do not apply to an internal reorganization of a Party or its Affiliates (re-incorporation, internal re-structuring or the like) and written notice or consent of Enzo is not required for
any such internal reorganization. Any other assignment, delegation, or transfer without the prior written consent of Enzo (except as expressly permitted in this Section 5) will be
null and void ab initio and without effect.

5.2 Permitted Assignment by Life. Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 5.1, Life may assign its rights under this Agreement, in whole or in part, without Enzo’s prior
written consent, to a Person that acquires all or part of Life’s business or assets at issue in the Litigation; provided, however, that (1) this Agreement may be assigned to
multiple Persons, but only to extent that each Person acquires the part of Life’s business or assets; (2) any such assignment of rights will not extend to products or services of the
acquiring Person that pre-existed the acquisition (or natural evolutions or extensions thereafter) but will not derogate from any right, privilege or immunity such Party may
already have under Enzo Patents; (3) any such assignment of rights shall not relieve the acquiring Person from any obligations that such Person may have under this
Agreement; and (4) Life obtains from the acquiring Person a written agreement to be bound by the terms and conditions of this Agreement and furnishes the same to Enzo. In
the event that Life is not acquired in its entirety or does not continue to exist as a distinct operating entity (such as a wholly-owned subsidiary) after the acquisition, the rights of
Life hereunder so assigned only extend to Licensed Life Products existing as of the date of the acquisition and natural evolutions of Licensed Life Products created after the date
of the acquisition, and will not otherwise extend to any products, services or activities of the acquiring Person prior to, on or after the date of the acquisition. The releases and
covenants provided by Life and its Affiliates shall run with the rights being assigned or transferred and shall be binding on any permitted successors-in-interest, transferees, or
assigns thereof. For avoidance of doubt, any such assignment of rights will not extend to any Material Acquired Third Party products or services
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existing prior to the time of acquisition or natural evolutions or extensions thereafter; provided, however, that this provision will not derogate from any right, privilege, or
immunity such Person may already have under the Licensed Enzo Patents. Any purported assignment, delegation, or transfer under Section 5.2 that does not comply with the
foregoing will be null and void ab initio and without effect.

5.3 Further Restriction on Assignment by Life. Notwithstanding the provisions of Sections 5.1 and 5.2, in no event may this Agreement or any licenses or rights hereunder be
assigned, delegated, or otherwise transferred without Enzo’s prior written consent to any of the following: Abbott Laboratories; Abbott Molecular, Inc.; Becton, Dickinson and
Company; Becton, Dickinson Diagnostics, Inc.; Geneohm Sciences, Inc. (now part of Becton Dickinson); Gen-Probe, Inc. (now part of Hologic, Inc.); Hologic, Inc.; [llumina,
Inc.; Roche Molecular Systems, Inc. (part of Hoffmann-La Roche AG); Roche Diagnostics Corporation (part of Hoffmann-La Roche AG); Roche Diagnostics Operations Inc.
(part of Hoffmann-La Roche AG); Roche Nimblegen, Inc. (part of Hoffmann-La Roche AG); and Luminex Corporation; or their respective Affiliates, so long as any of the
concurrently pending patent infringement litigations concerning the Licensed Enzo Patents remains pending between Enzo and the respective aforementioned entity (or any
Affiliate thereof). For the avoidance of doubt, a Third Party’s acquisition of Life by stock purchase, reverse triangular merger, or similar transaction does not constitute an
assignment of the Agreement by Life where Life continues to exist as a distinct operating entity (for example, as a wholly-owned subsidiary) after the acquisition and does not
expressly assign the Agreement to any other entity, provided that the licenses, covenants, and releases granted herein shall extend only to Licensed Life Products existing as of
the date of the acquisition and natural evolutions of Licensed Life Products created by the Life distinct operating entity after the date of the acquisition, and will not otherwise
extend to any products, services or activities of the acquiring Third Party prior to, on or after the date of the acquisition.

5.4 Permitted Assignment by Enzo. All license rights and covenants contained herein shall run with the Licensed Enzo Patents and Enzo Patents, as such categories apply herein
to the license rights and covenants contained in Sections 2.1 through 2.6, inclusive, and shall be binding on any successors-in-interest or assigns thereof. Any assignment of any
of the Licensed Enzo Patents and Enzo Patents, or an exclusive license granted thereto, to any other Person, including, but not limited to the right to license, enforce, and collect
damages, shall be subject to this Agreement. Any assignment of or exclusive license to any Licensed Enzo Patents or Enzo Patents shall be subject to the terms and conditions
in Sections 2.1 through 2.6.

SECTION 6: MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

6.1 Representations.

6.1.1 Enzo Representations. Enzo represents and warrants, to the best of its knowledge, that: (i) as of the Effective Date, Enzo and/or its Affiliates own, control, have
filed, or are assignees of the Enzo Patents, including the Licensed Enzo Patents, do not jointly own any of the Enzo Patents with any other Person, and have the right to grant the
license, releases and covenants with respect to the Enzo Patents, including the Licensed Enzo Patents, of the full scope set forth herein; (ii) as of the Effective Date, it has not
assigned or otherwise transferred to
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any other Person any rights to the Enzo Patents or Licensed Enzo Patents that would prevent Enzo from conveying the full scope of rights set forth herein and has not filed any
suit or proceeding against Life or any Affiliate except as referenced (including in section 6.5) and/or released herein; (iii) the person executing this Agreement on behalf of Enzo
has the full right and authority to enter into this Agreement on Enzo’s behalf; and (iv) apart from its contentions against Life concerning the Patents-in-Suit, as of the Effective
Date of this Agreement, and without having undertaken any specific investigation in connection with this representation, Enzo and its Affiliates are not aware of any other
intellectual property claim owned or controlled by Enzo or its Affiliates that is currently infringed by Life and/or its Affiliates and that Enzo and its Affiliates have no intention
as of the Effective Date to assert any known intellectual property claims against Life and/or its Affiliates. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if any of Enzo’s patents are found
invalid, this shall not cause a breach of the foregoing representation regarding Enzo or its Affiliates’ right to grant the license, release, or other rights provided herein.

6.1.2 Life Representations. Life represents and warrants that: (i) as of the Effective Date, Life has the right to grant the releases and covenants of the full scope set
forth herein; and (ii) the person executing this Agreement on behalf of Life has the full right and authority to enter into this Agreement on Life’s behalf.

6.1.3 Disclaimer of Representation. Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed as (i) a representation or warranty by Enzo as the scope, validity, or enforceability of
any patent; (ii) a representation or warranty that the manufacture, use, or sale of any products will not utilize or infringe any intellectual property rights; and (iii) any obligation
by Enzo to pay annuities or otherwise maintain any patents in force in any country.

6.2 Confidentiality. From and after the Effective Date, neither Party nor any of its Affiliates shall disclose the terms of this Agreement without the prior written consent of the
other Party except:

6.2.1 to any governmental body having jurisdiction and specifically requiring such disclosure;

6.2.2 in response to a valid document request or subpoena or as otherwise may be required by law, legal process or order of a court, provided a protective order is in
place that limits disclosure of such information to outside counsel only and the disclosing Party provides the other Party with written notice at least ten (10) business days prior
to disclosure to permit the other Party the opportunity to object and/or to seek a court-entered protective order or comparable court-ordered restriction, and shall reasonably
cooperate with the other Party in its efforts to obtain that protective order and take all other reasonable actions in an effort to minimize the nature and extent of such disclosure
and obtain confidential treatment to the extent available;

6.2.3 for the purposes of disclosure in connection with securities exchange obligations, including the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the Securities
Act of 1933, as amended, and any other reports filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (expressly
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including, but not limited to, Form 8K disclosures), or any other filings, reports or disclosures that may be required under applicable laws or regulations;

6.2.4 to a Party’s or its controlling Affiliates accountants, legal counsel, tax advisors, insurers, auditors and other financial and legal advisors and other professional
advisors in their capacity of advising the party in such matters, subject to obligations of confidentiality and/or privilege at least as stringent as those contained herein;

6.2.5 with obligations of confidentiality at least as stringent as those contained herein, to a counterparty in connection with a possible asset sales, investments, change
in control, merger, acquisition, financing or similar transaction;

6.2.6 in connection with tax audits or to fulfill its corporate financial reporting obligations under GAAP;

6.2.7 with obligations of confidentiality at least as stringent as those contained herein, by any Party and its Affiliates as required to enforce this Agreement or establish
rights hereunder;

6.2.8 to officers, key shareholders and/or employees with a need to know, attorneys, accountants and directors, who are under obligations of confidentiality (which
may include professional responsibility obligations) at least as stringent as those contained herein;

6.2.9 to its Affiliates who are similarly bound by this Agreement or under obligations of confidentiality at least as stringent as those contained herein; or

6.2.10 to Third Parties who make, sell, offer to sell, import or distribute a Licensed Life Product or who make, sell, or offer to sell a Covered Third Party Accused
Product, and who have a need to know, under obligations of confidentiality at least as stringent as those contained herein. Notwithstanding anything else in this Agreement to
the contrary, a Party may also disclose to anyone any information that is publicly available, through no breach by any Party of the confidentiality obligations hereunder.

6.3 Exceptions to Confidentiality Obligations. Notwithstanding Section 6.2, the Parties agree that (i) the fact that the Litigation has been settled; and (ii) public statement that
this Agreement sets forth a compromise and settlement of disputed claims for the purpose of avoiding the costs, disruptions, and uncertainties associated with further litigation,
and such compromise and settlement does not constitute a ruling on the merits, an admission as to any issue of fact or principle at law or an admission of liability of any Party,
are not subject to the confidentiality provisions of Section 6.2.

6.4 Notices. All notices required or permitted to be given hereunder shall be in writing and shall be delivered by hand, or, if dispatched by prepaid air courier, with package
tracing capabilities or by registered or certified airmail, postage prepaid, addressed as follows:
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If to Enzo:

Dr. Elazar Rabbani
Enzo Life Sciences, Inc.
527 Madison Avenue
New York, NY 10022

Copy to (which does not constitute notice):

Michael Stadnick
Desmarais LLP

230 Park Avenue
New York, NY 10169

If to Life:

Life Technologies Corporation
5823 Newton Drive

Carlsbad, CA 92008

Tel: 760-603-7200

Attn: General Counsel

Copy to (which does not constitute notice):

Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc.
81 Wyman Street

Waltham, MA 02451

Attn: General Counsel

Such notices shall be deemed to have been given or served (a) upon personal hand delivery, (b) one day after being sent by email with telephone confirmation of receipt, or (c)
one day after confirmed receipt from recognized express courier service that maintains such records of receipt. Either Party may give written notice of a change of address and,
after notice of such change has been received, any notice or request shall thereafter be given to such Party as above provided at such changed address.

6.4 Governing Law / Jurisdiction. This Agreement and matters connected with the performance thereof shall be construed, interpreted, applied and governed in all respects in
accordance with the laws of the United States of America and the State of Delaware, without reference to conflict of laws principles. Enzo and Life agree (a) that all disputes
and litigation regarding this Agreement, its construction and matters connected with its performance be subject to the exclusive jurisdiction of the state and federal courts in the
state of Delaware (the “Court”), and (b) to submit any disputes, matters of interpretation, or enforcement actions arising with respect to the subject matter of this Agreement
exclusively to the Court. The Parties hereby waive any challenge to the jurisdiction or venue of the Court over these matters.

6.5 No Impact on Other Litigations. For the avoidance of doubt, nothing in this Agreement, including without limitation, the licenses, releases, and covenants not to sue above,
shall be
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interpreted to affect, limit or preclude in any way, explicitly or by implication, any other pending litigation involving any of Enzo, Enzo Biochem, Inc., Applera Corporation,
Yale University and/or any of their predecessors, successors, Affiliates or related parties, including but not limited to Enzo Biochem, Inc. and Enzo Life Sciences, Inc., and Yale
University v. Applera Corp. and Tropix, Inc. (D. Conn.), Case No. 3-04-CV-929.

6.6 Sophisticated Parties Represented by Counsel. The Parties each warrants and represents that (i) it is a sophisticated party represented at all relevant times during the
negotiation and execution of this Agreement by counsel of their choice, and that they have executed this Agreement with the consent and on the advice of such independent
legal counsel; (ii) they and their counsel have determined through independent investigation and robust, arm’s-length negotiation that the terms of this Agreement shall
exclusively embody and govern the subject matter of this Agreement; (iii) they investigated the facts pertinent to this Agreement as they deemed necessary; (iv) no other Person
or Party, nor any agent or attorney of a Party, made any promise, representation or warranty whatsoever, express or implied, not contained in this Agreement concerning the
subject matter of this Agreement to induce them to execute this Agreement; (v) they have not executed this Agreement in reliance on any promise, representation or warranty
whatsoever, express or implied, not contained in this Agreement concerning the subject matter of this Agreement; and (vi) they have not executed this Agreement in reliance on
any promise, representation or warranty not contained herein. The Parties included this paragraph to preclude any claim that any Party was fraudulently induced to execute this
Agreement and to preclude the introduction of parol evidence to vary, interpret, supplement or contradict the terms of this Agreement.

6.7 Bankruptcy. The Parties acknowledge and agree that all rights and licenses granted by Enzo under or pursuant to this Agreement are, and will otherwise be deemed to be, for
purposes of Section 365(n) of the United States Bankruptcy Code, as amended (the “Bankruptcy Code”), licenses of rights to “intellectual property” as defined under Section
101 of the Bankruptcy Code. The Parties agree that, notwithstanding anything else in this Agreement, Life and its Affiliates, as the licensee of such intellectual property rights
under this Agreement, will retain and may fully exercise all of its rights and elections under the Bankruptcy Code (including, without limitation, a Life and its Affiliates’ right
to the continued enjoyment of the rights and licenses granted by Enzo under this Agreement). Further, this provision shall not alleviate or contravene the restrictions on
assignments and acquisitions set forth in this Agreement.

6.8 No Laundering. The Parties understand and acknowledge that the licenses, releases, and covenants granted to Life and its Affiliates by Enzo hereunder are intended to cover
only the bona fide products or services of Life and its Affiliates and are not intended to cover patent laundering activities (i.e., activities that are undertaken solely for the
purpose of improperly extending licensed rights to cover any activity of any third party acting outside the scope of Life’s or its Affiliates’ licensed activities). The Parties
further agree that a purchase of a product from a supplier and resale of such product in substantially the same form back to the same supplier is not licensed under this
Agreement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the combination of such supplied product with a Licensed Life Product and/or rebranding of such combination and resale back to
the supplier is not a prohibited resale of such product. Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to license sham sales or sham service contracts executed by Life or any of
1ts
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Affiliates with any third party solely for the purpose of improperly extending licensed rights to cover any activity of any third party acting outside the scope of Life’s (or its
Affiliates”) licensed activities.

6.9 Severability. If any provision of this Agreement is held to be illegal or unenforceable, such provision shall be limited or eliminated to the minimum extent necessary so that
the remainder of this Agreement will continue in full force and effect and be enforceable. The Parties agree to negotiate in good faith an enforceable substitute provision for any
invalid or unenforceable provision that most nearly achieves the intent of such provision.

6.10 Entire Agreement. The Parties hereby agree that (i) this is an enforceable agreement; (ii) this Agreement constitutes the entire and only understanding of each of them with
respect to the subject matter of the Agreement, and merges, supersedes and cancels all previous agreements and understandings, whether oral or written, with respect to the
subject matter of the Agreement; (iii) no oral explanation or oral information by any Party hereto shall alter the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement; (iv) the terms and
conditions of this Agreement may be altered, modified, changed or amended only by a written agreement that identifies itself as an amendment to this Agreement and is
executed by duly authorized representatives of Enzo and Life; (v) the language of this Agreement has been approved by counsel for each of them, and shall be construed as a
whole according to its fair meaning; and (vi) none of the them (nor their respective counsel) shall be deemed to be the draftsman of this Agreement in any action which may
hereafter arise with respect to the Agreement. This Agreement and any amendments hereto may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which is deemed to be an
original, but all of which together constitute one instrument.

6.11 Modification; Waiver. No modification or amendment to this Agreement, nor any waiver of any rights, will be effective unless assented to in writing by the Party to be
charged, and the waiver of any breach or default will not constitute a waiver of any other right hereunder or any subsequent breach or default.

6.12 Construction; Language. Any rule of construction to the effect that ambiguities are to be resolved against the drafting Party will not be applied in the construction or
interpretation of this Agreement. As used in this Agreement, the words “include” and “including” and variations thereof, will not be deemed to be terms of limitation, but rather
will be deemed to be followed by the words “without limitation.” The headings in this Agreement will not be referred to in connection with the construction or interpretation of
this Agreement. This Agreement is in the English language only, which language shall be controlling in all respects, and all notices under this Agreement shall be in the English

language.

6.13 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts or duplicate originals, both of which shall be regarded as one and the same instrument, and which shall be
the official and governing version in the interpretation of this Agreement. This Agreement may be executed by facsimile signatures or other electronic means and such
signatures shall be deemed to bind each Party as if they were original signatures.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be signed below by their respective duly authorized officers.
Enzo Life Sciences, Inc.

By: /s/ Barry M. Weiner

Name:  Barry M. Weiner

Title: Vice President

Date: May 13, 2016

Life Technologies Corporation

By: /s/ Seth H. Hoogasian

Name:  Seth H. Hoogasian

Title: President

Date: May 13, 2016
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ENZO LIFE SCIENCES, INC.
Vs.
LIFE TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION

Defendant.

EXHIBIT A

STIPULATED MOTION FOR DISMISSAL OF LITIGATION

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

OF DELAWARE
) CASE NO. CV 12-CV-105-LPS
)
)  JOINT STIPULATION OF DISMISSAL WITH PREJUDICE
)
) The Hon. Leonard Stark
) Chief United States District Court Judge
)
)
)

Pursuant to Rule 41(a)(1)(A)(ii) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, Plaintiff, Enzo Life Sciences, Inc. (“Enzo”), and Defendant Life Technologies Corporation
(“Life”), by and through their respective counsel, hereby stipulate to the dismissal with prejudice of Enzo’s claims against Life in this action and to the dismissal without
prejudice of Life’s counterclaims against Enzo. Each party shall bear its own attorneys’ fees and costs.

FARNAN LLP

Respectfully submitted,

Brian E. Farnan (#4089)

919 North Market Street, 121 Fir
Wilmington, DE 19801

(302) 777-0336
bfarnan@farnanlaw.com

Of Counsel:

John M. Desmarais (admitted pro hac vice)
Michael P. Stadnick (admitted pro hac vice)
Justin P.D. Wilcox (admitted pro hac vice)
Jordan N. Malz (admitted pro hac vice)
Peter C. Magic (admitted pro hac vice)
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MORRIS NICHOLS ARSHT &TUNNELL LLP

Jack B. Blumenfeld (#1014)
Karen Jacobs (#2881)

1201 North Market Street
P.O. Box 1347
Wilmington, DE 19899
(302) 658-9200
jblumenfeld@mnat.com
kjacobs@mnat.com

Attorneys for Defendant
Life Technologies Corporation



Desmarais LLP

230 Park Avenue

New York, NY 10169

(212) 351-3400 (Tel)

(212) 351-3401 (Fax)
jdesmarais@desmaraisllp.com
mstadnick@desmaraisllp.com
jwilcox@desmaraisllp.com
jmalz@desmaraisllp.com
pmagic@desmaraisllp.com

Attorneys for Plaintiff
Enzo Life Sciences, Inc.
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EXHIBIT B
Enzo’s Infringement Contentions and Infringement Charts
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Exhibit B

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF DELAWARE

ENZO LIFE SCIENCES, INC.,

Plaintiff, Civil Action No. 12-cv-105-LPS
v.

LIFE TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION,

Defendant.

PLAINTIFF’S INITIAL INFRINGEMENT CHARTS
FOR LIFE TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION

Pursuant to the Court’s Scheduling Order, Plaintiff Enzo Life Sciences, Inc. (“Plaintiff”) hereby provides its Initial Infringement Charts to Defendant Life Technologies
Corporation (“Life Technologies”).

Plaintiff contends that Life Technologies, either alone or in conjunction with others, has directly infringed and continues to directly infringe, one or more claims of U.S.
Patent No. 7,064,197 (“the ‘197 patent”) and U.S. Patent No. 6,992,180 (“the ‘180 patent”) (collectively, the “Patents-in-Suit”) under 35 U.S.C. § 271, either literally and/or
under the doctrine of equivalents, by making, using, offering to sell, selling, and/or importing into the United States certain nucleic acid probe and array products, including
without limitation:

a) nucleic acid probe products involving TagMan technology, including without limitation, TagMan Gene Expression assays, TagMan SNP Genotyping assays,
TagMan Drug Metabolism Genotyping Assays, TagMan Copy Number Variation assays, TagMan Mutation Detection Assays, TagMan MicroRNA assays,
TaqMan



Exhibit B

siRNA assays, TagMan Non-coding RNA assays, TagMan Protein assays, Custom TagMan Probes, and Custom TaqgMan assays, including Custom TagMan
Gene Expression assays, Custom TagMan SNP Genotyping Assays, and Custom and Custom Plus TagMan Copy Number assays, and Custom TaqgMan Small
RNA assays (collectively, “TagMan Assays”);

b) nucleic acid array products involving Dynabeads technology, including without limitation, Dynabeads Oligo (dT),5 (all sizes), Dynabeads mRNA DIRECT Kkits,
and Dynabeads mRNA Purification kits (collectively, “Dynabeads Oligo (dT),5 Products™);
¢) the NCode Human miRNA Microarray V3; and

d) nucleic acid array products products involving the NCode platform for non-coding RNA, including without limitation, NCode Non-coding RNA assay, NCode
Human Non-coding RNA Microarrays, and NCode Mouse Non-coding RNA Microarrays (collectively, “NCode Noncoding RNA Products”)

(collectively, the “Accused Products”). Plaintiff further contends that Life Technologies has actively induced, and continues to induce, the infringement of one or more claims
of the Patents-in-Suit under 35 U.S.C. § 271 (b). At all relevant times, Life Technologies has actively, knowingly, and intentionally induced others, including without limitation
Life Technologies’ customers to use, make, sell, offer for sale, and/or import the Accused Products, in a way that Life Technologies knew or should have known infringes one
or more claims of the Patents-in-Suit. Plaintiff further contends that Life Technologies” infringement of the ‘180 patent has been, and continues to be, willful.
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Plaintiffs initial infringement contentions are provided herein without the benefit of full discovery. The initial claim charts attached herein as Exhibits A-I through B-3
identify where each limitation of the asserted claims of the Patents-in-Suit is found within the Accused Products. Plaintiff contends that each element of each asserted claim is
literally present in the Accused Products unless otherwise indicated. But to the extent that any claim element is found not to be literally embodied in the accused
instrumentalities, Plaintiff contends that the Accused Products embody such claim elements under the doctrine of equivalents because there are no substantial differences for
each claim element, and the Accused Products perform substantially the same function, in substantially the same way, to achieve substantially the same result. To date, Life
Technologies has not provided non-infringement contentions in this case. Plaintiff reserves the right to supplement its initial infringement contentions, including doctrine of
equivalents contentions, in response to Life Technologies’ non-infringement contentions.

Where a claim element is implemented in the same or substantially the same way for each product of an Accused Product family (e.g. , Dynabeads Oligo (dT),5 Products
include Dynabeads Oligo (dT),5 (all sizes), Dynabeads mRNA DIRECT kits, and Dynabeads mRNA Purification kits), Plaintiff provides an exemplary illustration or

description setting forth specifically where the limitation is found in the Accused Products, without repeating the same illustration or description for each version of each
Accused Product in the family.

Plaintiff provides these initial infringement contentions before claim construction disclosures and fulsome discovery, and before the Court’s claim construction ruling.
Plaintiffs initial infringement contentions are not an admission, adoption, or waiver of any particular claim construction; Plaintiff reserves all rights with respect to claim
construction.
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These initial infringement charts are based upon information reasonably and presently available to Plaintiff through publicly-available information and Life Technologies’
production of core technical documents to date. Plaintiff reserves the right, consistent with its obligations under the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, the Local Rules, the
Court’s Scheduling Order, and the Default Standard for Discovery, including Discovery of Electronically Stored Information, to modify, amend, retract, and/or supplement the
initial infringement charts made herein as additional evidence and information becomes available or as otherwise appropriate, including the issuance of the Court’s claim
construction ruling.

Plaintiff identifies the following asserted claims of the Patents-in-Suit and accused instrumentalities, as further explained in Exhibits A-I through B-3 .

Patent-In- Life Technologies — Accused
Suit Asserted Claims Products
6,992,180 1,2,6,7,8,9,12, 13,14, 15, 19, 25, 29, 30, 34, 35, 36, 40, 41, 42, 43, 44, 48, 54, 58, 59, 60, 64, TagMan® Assays. See Ex. A-1.
65, 66,70, 71,72, 73,77, 83, 87, 88, 92, 93, 94, 98, 99, 100, 101, 102, 106, 112, 116
7,064,197 17,19, 105,113, 116, 129, 131 Dynabeads®Oligo (dT),5 Products. See Ex. B-1.
7,064,197 1-22, 27-34, 38-40, 43, 46,47, 49, 51, 57, 59, 61-63, 65, 68-70, 72-74, 78, 80, 81, 84-88, 90, 96, NCode™ Human miRNA Microarray V3. See Ex. B-

98,102, 105, 106, 108, 113, 115, 116, 118, 121, 122, 124, 127-129, 131, 132, 136, 140, 146, 148, 2.
192-194, 197, 199, 204, 206, 212, 213, 218, 220-222, 224, 226, 227, 230, 232, 235

7,064,197 1-22,27-34, 38, 39, 40, 43, 44, 46, 47, 49, 51, 57, 59, 61-63, 65, 68-70, 72, 73, 74, 78, 80-82, 84- NCode™ Noncoding RNA Products. See Ex. B-3.
88, 90, 96, 98, 100, 102, 105, 106, 108, 113, 115, 116, 118, 120, 122, 123, 124, 127-129, 131, 132,
136, 140, 146, 148, 191-194, 196, 197, 199, 204, 206, 212, 213, 218, 220-222, 224, 226, 227, 230,
232,234

DATED: September 30, 2013
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/s/ Brian E. Farnan

Brian E. Farnan (Bar No. 4089)
Farnan LLP
919 North Market Street

12" Floor

Wilmington, DE 19801
(302) 777-0300

(302) 777-0301
bfarnan@farnanlaw.com

John M. Desmarais

Michael P. Stadnick

Xiao Li

Joseph C. Akalski

Lauren M. Nowierski
Desmarais LLP

230 Park Avenue

New York, NY 10169

(212) 351-3400 (Tel)

(212) 351-3401 (Fax)
jdesmarais@desmaraisllp.com
mstadnick@desmaraisllp.com
xli@desmaraisllp.com
jakalski@desmaraisllp.com
Inowierski@desmaraisllp.com

Counsel for Plaintiff
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF DELAWARE

ENZO LIFE SCIENCES, INC.,
Plaintiff, Civil Action No. 12-cv-105-LPS

v.
LIFE TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION,

Defendant.

PLAINTIFF’S SUPPLEMENTAL INFRINGEMENT CHARTS
FOR LIFE TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION

Pursuant to the Court’s Scheduling Order, Plaintiff Enzo Life Sciences, Inc. (“Plaintiff”’) hereby provides its Supplemental Infringement Charts to Defendant Life
Technologies Corporation (“Life Technologies™).

Plaintiff contends that Life Technologies, either alone or in conjunction with others, has directly infringed and continues to directly infringe, one or more claims of U.S.
Patent No. 7,064,197 (“the ‘197 patent”) and U.S. Patent No. 6,992,180 (“the ‘180 patent”) (collectively, the “Patents-in-Suit”) under 35 U.S.C. § 271, either literally and/or
under the doctrine of equivalents, by making, using, offering to sell, selling, and/or importing into the United States certain nucleic acid probe and array products, including
without limitation:

a) nucleic acid probe products involving TagMan technology, including without limitation, TagMan Gene Expression assays, TagMan SNP Genotyping assays,
TagMan Drug Metabolism Genotyping Assays, TagMan Copy Number Variation assays, TagMan Mutation Detection Assays, TagMan MicroRNA assays,
TaqMan



b)

<)

d)

e)

g)

Exhibit B

siRNA assays, TagMan Non-coding RNA assays, TagMan Protein assays, Custom TagMan Probes, and Custom TagMan assays, including Custom TaqgMan
Gene Expression assays, Custom TagMan SNP Genotyping Assays, and Custom and Custom Plus TagMan Copy Number assays, and Custom TaqgMan Small
RNA assays (collectively, “TagMan Assays”);

nucleic acid array products involving Dynabeads technology, including without limitation, Dynabeads Oligo (dT),5 (all sizes), Dynabeads mRNA DIRECT Kkits,
and Dynabeads mRNA Purification kits (collectively, “Dynabeads Oligo (dT),5 Products”);

nucleic acid array products involving Ion Torrent sequencing technology, including without limitation, Ion 316 Chip Kit (all sizes), Ion PI Chip Kit v2, Ion 314
Chip Kit v2, Ion 318 Chip Kit v2 (all sizes), and Ion 316 Chip Kit v2 (all sizes) (collectively, “Ion Torrent Products”);

nucleic acid array products involving SOLiD sequencing chemistry, including without limitation, SOLiD 6-Lane FlowChip (collectively, “SOLiD Sequencing
Products”);

nucleic acid array products involving Wildfire sequencing technology, including without limitation, 5500 W FlowChip V2 (collectively, “Wildfire Sequencing
Products”);

the NCode Human miRNA Microarray V3 and NCode Multi-Species miRNA Microarray Kit V2; and

nucleic acid array products products involving the NCode platform for non-coding RNA, including without limitation, NCode Non-coding RNA assay,

2
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NCode Human Non-coding RNA Microarrays, and NCode Mouse Non-coding RNA Microarrays (collectively, “NCode Noncoding RNA Products”)

(collectively, the “Accused Products”). Plaintiff further contends that Life Technologies has actively induced, and continues to induce, the infringement of one or more claims

of the Patents-in-Suit under 35 U.S.C. § 271(b). At all relevant times, Life Technologies has actively, knowingly, and intentionally induced others, including without limitation
Life Technologies’ customers to use, make, sell, offer for sale, and/or import the Accused Products, in a way that Life Technologies knew or should have known infringes one

or more claims of the Patents-in-Suit. Plaintiff further contends that Life Technologies’ infringement of the ‘180 patent has been, and continues to be, willful.

Plaintiff’s infringement contentions are provided herein without the benefit of full discovery. The claim charts attached herein as Exhibits A-1 through B-6 identify where
each limitation of the asserted claims of the Patents-in-Suit is found within the Accused Products. Plaintiff contends that each element of each asserted claim is literally present
in the Accused Products unless otherwise indicated. But to the extent that any claim element is found not to be literally embodied in the accused instrumentalities, Plaintiff
contends that the Accused Products embody such claim elements under the doctrine of equivalents because there are no substantial differences for each claim element, and the
Accused Products perform substantially the same function, in substantially the same way, to achieve substantially the same result. To date, Life Technologies has not provided
non-infringement contentions in this case. Plaintiff reserves the right to supplement its infringement contentions, including doctrine of equivalents contentions, in response to
Life Technologies’ non-infringement contentions.
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Where a claim element is implemented in the same or substantially the same way for each product of an Accused Product family .g., Dynabeads Oligo (dT),5 Products
include Dynabeads Oligo (dT),5 (all sizes), Dynabeads mRNA DIRECT kits, and Dynabeads mRNA Purification kits), Plaintiff provides an exemplary illustration or

description setting forth specifically where the limitation is found in the Accused Products, without repeating the same illustration or description for each version of each
Accused Product in the family.

Plaintiff provides these infringement contentions before fulsome discovery and before the Court’s claim construction ruling. Plaintiff’s infringement contentions are not an
admission, adoption, or waiver of any particular claim construction; Plaintiff reserves all rights with respect to claim construction.

These infringement charts are based upon information reasonably and presently available to Plaintiff through publicly-available information and Life Technologies’
production of core technical documents to date. Plaintiff reserves the right, consistent with its obligations under the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, the Local Rules, the
Court’s Scheduling Order, and the Default Standard for Discovery, including Discovery of Electronically Stored Information, to modify, amend, retract, and/or supplement the
infringement charts made herein as additional evidence and information becomes available or as otherwise appropriate, including the issuance of the Court’s claim construction
ruling.

Plaintiff identifies the following asserted claims of the Patents-in-Suit and accused instrumentalities, as further explained in Exhibits A-1 through B-6.

Patent-In- Life Technologies — Accused
Suit Asserted Claims Products
6,992,180 1,2,6,7,8,9,12, 13,14, 15, 19, 25, 29, 30, 34, 35, 36, 40, 41, 42, 43, 44, 48, 54, 58, 59, 60, 64, TagMan® Assays. See Ex. A-1.

65, 66, 70, 71,72, 73,77, 83, 87, 88, 92, 93, 94, 98, 99, 100, 101, 102, 106, 112, 116
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Patent-In- Life Technologies — Accused
Suit Asserted Claims Products
7,064,197 17,19, 105, 113, 116, 129, 131 Dynabeads®Oligo (dT),5 Products. See Ex. B-1.
7,064,197 1-22, 27-34, 38-40, 43, 46,47, 49, 51, 57, 59, 61-63, 65, 68-70, 72-74, 78, 80, 81, 84-88, 90, 96, NCode™ Human miRNA Microarray V3 and Multi-
98,102, 105, 106, 108, 113, 115, 116, 118, 121, 122, 124, 127-129, 131, 132, 136, 140, 146, 148, Species miRNA Microarray V2. See Ex. B-2
192-194, 197, 199, 204, 206, 212, 213, 218, 220-222, 224, 226, 227, 230, 232, 235 (Amended).
7,064,197 1-22,27-34, 38, 39, 40, 43, 44, 46, 47, 49, 51, 57, 59, 61-63, 65, 68-70, 72, 73, 74, 78, 80-82, 84- NCode™ Noncoding RNA Products. See Ex. B-3.

88, 90, 96, 98, 100, 102, 105, 106, 108, 113, 115, 116, 118, 120, 122, 123, 124, 127-129, 131, 132,
136, 140, 146, 148, 191-194, 196, 197, 199, 204, 206, 212, 213, 218, 220-222, 224, 226, 227, 230,

232,234
7,064,197 17,19, 106, 113, 116-119, 128, 129 Ion Torrent Products. See Ex. B-4.
7,064,197 3,5,10, 11, 17-22, 29, 30, 32, 33, 38-40, 43, 44, 46, 47, 51, 59, 65, 72, 73, 78, 80-82, 84-86, 90, SOLiD Sequencing Products. See Ex. B-5.

98, 105, 106, 108, 113, 115, 116, 118, 122-124, 128, 129, 131, 132, 136, 140, 148, 226, 227, 232
7,064,197 3,5,10, 11, 17-23, 25, 26, 29, 30, 32, 33, 38-41, 43, 44, 46, 47, 51, 59, 65, 72, 73, 78, 80, 81, 82, Wildfire Sequencing Products. See Ex. B-6.
84-86, 90, 98, 105, 106, 113, 115-119, 122-124, 128, 129, 132, 136, 140, 148, 150-153, 155-157,
161, 168, 176, 178, 185, 187, 188, 226, 227, 231-233
DATED: February 5, 2014 Respectfully submitted,
FARNAN llp

/s/ Brian E. Farnan

Brian E. Farnan (Bar No. 4089)
Michael J. Farnan (Bar No. 5165)
919 North Market Street

12" Floor

Wilmington, DE 19801

(302) 777-0300 (Tel)

(302) 777-0301 (Fax)
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bfarnan@farnanlaw.com
mfarnan@farnanlaw.com

John M. Desmarais (admitted pro hac vice)
Michael P. Stadnick (admitted pro hac vice)
Xiao Li (admitted pro hac vice)

Joseph C. Akalski (admitted pro hac vice)
Lauren M. Nowierski (admitted pro hac vice)
DESMARALIS llp

230 Park Avenue

New York, NY 10169

(212) 351-3400 (Tel)

(212) 351-3401 (Fax)
jdesmarais@desmaraisllp.com
mstadnick@desmaraisllp.com
xli@desmaraisllp.com
jakalski@desmaraisllp.com
Inowierski@desmaraisllp.com

Counsel for Plaintiff
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF DELAWARE

ENZO LIFE SCIENCES, INC.,
Plaintiff, Civil Action No. 12-cv-105-LPS

v.
LIFE TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION,

Defendant.

PLAINTIFF’S SECOND SUPPLEMENTAL INFRINGEMENT CHARTS
FOR LIFE TECHNOLOGIES

Pursuant to the Court’s Scheduling Order, Plaintiff Enzo Life Sciences, Inc. (“Plaintiff”’) hereby provides its Second Supplemental Infringement Charts to Defendant Life
Technologies Corporation (“Life Technologies”).

Plaintiff contends that Life Technologies, either alone or in conjunction with others, has directly infringed and continues to directly infringe, one or more claims of U.S.
Patent No. 7,064,197 (“the ‘197 patent”) and U.S. Patent No. 6,992,180 (“the ‘180 patent”) (collectively, the “Patents-in-Suit”) under 35 U.S.C. § 271, either literally and/or
under the doctrine of equivalents, by making, using, offering to sell, selling, and/or importing into the United States certain nucleic acid probe and array products, including
without limitation:

a) nucleic acid probe products involving TagMan technology, including without limitation, TagMan Gene Expression assays, TagqMan SNP Genotyping assays,
TagMan Drug Metabolism Genotyping Assays, TagMan Copy Number Variation assays, TagMan Mutation Detection Assays, TagMan MicroRNA assays,
TaqMan



b)

<)
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siRNA assays, TagMan Non-coding RNA assays, TagMan Protein assays, Custom TagMan Probes, and Custom TagMan assays, including Custom TaqgMan
Gene Expression assays, Custom TagMan SNP Genotyping Assays, and Custom and Custom Plus TagMan Copy Number assays, and Custom TaqgMan Small
RNA assays, and all other nucleic acid probe products involving TagMan technology (collectively, “TaqgMan Assays”);

nucleic acid array products involving Dynabeads technology, including without limitation, Dynabeads Oligo (dT),5 (all sizes), Dynabeads mRNA DIRECT Kkits,
Dynabeads mRNA Purification kits, Dynabeads® mRNA DIRECT™ Micro Purification Kit, Dynabeads M-280 Streptavidin, Dynabeads MyOne Streptavidin
T1, Dynabeads M-270 Streptavidin, Dynabeads MyOne Streptavidin C1, Dynabeads kilobaseBINDER Kit, CELLection Biotin Binder Kit, Dynabeads®
MyOne™ Silane, Dynabeads® DNA DIRECT™ Blood Kit, Dynabeads® DNA DIRECT™ Universal Kit, Dynabeads® SILANE Genomic DNA Kit,
Dynabeads® SILANE Viral NA Kit, Dynabeads® SILANE Genomic DNA Kit, Dynabeads® Streptavidin Trial Kit, and Custom-coupled Dynabeads, and all
other nucleic acid array products involving Dynabeads technology (collectively, “Dynabeads Products”);

nucleic acid array products involving Ion Torrent sequencing technology, including without limitation, products containing Ion Sphere Particles (including,
without limitation, Ion Sequencing Kits (all versions), Ion Template Kits (all versions), Ion Xpress Template Kits (all versions), lon OneTouch Template Kits
(all versions)), Ion Proton I Chip (all versions), Ion Proton II Chip (all versions),
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Ion 316 Chip Kits (all versions and sizes), Ion PI Chip Kits (all versions and sizes), Ion 314 Chip Kits (all versions and sizes), Ion 318 Chip Kits (all versions
and sizes), and Ton 316 Chip Kits (all versions and sizes), and all other nucleic acid array products involving Ion Torrent sequencing technology(collectively,
“Ion Torrent Products”);

nucleic acid array products involving SOLiD sequencing chemistry, including without limitation, products containing SOLiD sequencing beads and SOLiD 6-
Lane FlowChip, and all other nucleic acid array products involving SOLiD sequencing chemistry (collectively, “SOLiD Sequencing Products”);

nucleic acid array products involving Wildfire sequencing technology, including without limitation, 5500 W FlowChip V2, and all other nucleic acid array
products involving Wildfire sequencing technology (collectively, “Wildfire Sequencing Products”);

the NCode Human miRNA Microarray V3, NCode Multi-Species miRNA Microarray Kit V2, and NCode™ Multi-Species miRNA Pre-printed Microarrays,
and all other products involving the NCode platform for miRNA (collectively, “NCode miRNA Microarray Products”); and

nucleic acid array products involving the NCode platform for non-coding RNA, including without limitation, NCode Non-coding RNA assay, NCode Human
Non-coding RNA Microarrays, and NCode Mouse Non-coding RNA Microarrays, and all other nucleic acid array products involving the Ncode platform for
non-coding RNA (collectively, “NCode Noncoding RNA Products”)
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(collectively, the “Accused Products”). Plaintiff further contends that Life Technologies has actively induced, and continues to induce, the infringement of one or more claims
of the Patents-in-Suit under 35 U.S.C. § 271(b). At all relevant times, Life Technologies has actively, knowingly, and intentionally induced others, including without limitation
Life Technologies’ customers to use, make, sell, offer for sale, and/or import the Accused Products, in a way that Life Technologies knew or should have known infringes one
or more claims of the Patents-in-Suit. Plaintiff further contends that Life Technologies” infringement of the ‘180 patent has been, and continues to be, willful.

Plaintiff’s infringement contentions are provided herein without the benefit of full discovery. The claim charts attached herein as Exhibits A-1 through B-6 identify where
each limitation of the asserted claims of the Patents-in-Suit is found within the Accused Products. Plaintiff contends that each element of each asserted claim is literally present
in the Accused Products unless otherwise indicated. But to the extent that any claim element is found not to be literally embodied in the accused instrumentalities, Plaintiff
contends that the Accused Products embody such claim elements under the doctrine of equivalents because there are no substantial differences for each claim element, and the
Accused Products perform substantially the same function, in substantially the same way, to achieve substantially the same result. To date, Life Technologies has not provided
non-infringement contentions in this case. Plaintiff reserves the right to supplement its infringement contentions, including doctrine of equivalents contentions, in response to
Life Technologies’ non-infringement contentions.

Where a claim element is implemented in the same or substantially the same way for each product of an Accused Product family e.g., Dynabeads Oligo (dT),5 Products
include Dynabeads Oligo (dT);5 (all sizes), Dynabeads mRNA DIRECT kits, Dynabeads mRNA

4
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Purification kits, Dynabeads M-280 Streptavidin, Dynabeads MyOne Streptavidin T1, Dynabeads M-270 Streptavidin, Dynabeads MyOne Streptavidin C1, Dynabeads
kilobaseBINDER Kit, CELLection Biotin Binder Kit, and Custom-coupled Dynabeads), Plaintiff provides an exemplary illustration or description setting forth specifically
where the limitation is found in the Accused Products, without repeating the same illustration or description for each version of each Accused Product in the family.

Plaintiff provides these infringement contentions before fulsome discovery and before the Court’s claim construction ruling. Moreover, depositions are ongoing, and
Plaintiff reserves the right to supplement its contentions based on additional relevant information disclosed during depositions and through other means of discovery. And to the
extent that Plaintiff receives relevant discovery from third parties, Plaintiff reserves the right to supplement its contentions accordingly. Plaintiff’s infringement contentions are
not an admission, adoption, or waiver of any particular claim construction; Plaintiff reserves all rights with respect to claim construction.

These infringement charts are based upon information reasonably and presently available to Plaintiff through publicly-available information and Life Technologies’
production of technical documents to date. Plaintiff reserves the right, consistent with its obligations under the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, the Local Rules, the Court’s
Scheduling Order, and the Default Standard for Discovery, including Discovery of Electronically Stored Information, to modify, amend, retract, and/or supplement the
infringement charts made herein as additional evidence and information becomes available or as otherwise appropriate, including the issuance of the Court’s claim construction
ruling.

Plaintiff identifies the following asserted claims of the Patents-in-Suit and accused instrumentalities, as further explained in Exhibits A-1 through B-6.

5



Exhibit B

Patent-In- Life Technologies — Accused
Suit Asserted Claims Products
6,992,180 1,2,6,7,8,9,12, 13,14, 15, 19, 25, 29, 30, 34, 35, 36, 40, 41, 42, 43, 44, 48, 54, 58, 59, 60, 64, TagMan® Assays. See Ex. A-1.
65, 66,70, 71,72, 73,77, 83, 87, 83, 92, 93, 94, 98, 99, 100, 101, 102, 106, 112, 116
7,064,197 17,19, 105,113, 116, 129, 131 Dynabeads® Products. See Ex. B-1.
7,064,197 1-22, 27-34, 38-40, 43, 46, 47, 49, 51, 57, 59, 61-63, 65, 63-70, 72-74, 78, 80, 81, 84-88, 90, 96, NCode™ miRNA Microarray Products. See Ex. B-2

98,102, 105, 106, 108, 113, 115, 116, 118, 121, 122, 124, 127-129, 131, 132, 136, 140, 146, 148, (Amended).
192-194, 197, 199, 204, 206, 212, 213, 218, 220-222, 224, 226, 227, 230, 232, 235

7,064,197 1-22,27-34, 38, 39, 40, 43, 44, 46, 47, 49, 51, 57, 59, 61-63, 65, 68-70, 72, 73, 74, 78, 80-82, 84- NCode™ Noncoding RNA Products. See Ex. B-3.
88, 90, 96, 98, 100, 102, 105, 106, 108, 113, 115, 116, 118, 120, 122, 123, 124, 127-129, 131, 132,
136, 140, 146, 148, 191-194, 196, 197, 199, 204, 206, 212, 213, 218, 220-222, 224, 226, 227, 230,

232,234
7,064,197 17,19, 106, 113, 116-119, 128, 129 Ion Torrent Products. See Ex. B-4.
7,064,197 3,5,10, 11, 17-22, 29, 30, 32, 33, 38-40, 43, 44, 46, 47, 51, 59, 65, 72, 73, 78, 80-82, 84-86, 90, SOLiD Sequencing Products. See Ex. B-5.

98, 105, 106, 108, 113, 115, 116, 118, 122-124, 128, 129, 131, 132, 136, 140, 148, 226, 227, 232

7,064,197 3,5,10, 11, 17-23, 25, 26, 29, 30, 32, 33, 38-41, 43, 44, 46, 47, 51, 59, 65, 72, 73, 78, 80, 81, 82, Wildfire Sequencing Products. See Ex. B-6.
84-86, 90, 98, 105, 106, 113, 115-119, 122-124, 128, 129, 132, 136, 140, 148, 150-153, 155-157,
161, 168, 176, 178, 185, 187, 188, 226, 227, 231-233

DATED: September 30, 2014

/s/ Brian E. Farnan

Brian E. Farnan (Bar No. 4089)
Farnan LLP

919 North Market Street

12" Floor

Wilmington, DE 19801
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EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Elazar Rabbani, Ph.D., certify that:

L.

2.

I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Enzo Biochem, Inc. (the “registrant”).

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a
—15(e) and 15d — 15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(@

(b)

©

(d

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during
the period in which this report is being prepared;

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors
and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(@

(b)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting.

Date: June 8, 2016

By: /s/ Elazar Rabbani, Ph.D.
Elazar Rabbani, Ph.D.
Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer and Secretary




EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

1, Barry Weiner, certify that:

L.

2.

I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Enzo Biochem, Inc. (the “registrant”).

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a
—15(e) and 15d — 15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(@

(b)

(d

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during
the period in which this report is being prepared;

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors
and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(@

(b)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting.

Date: June 8, 2016

By: /s/ Barry Weiner
Barry Weiner
President, Chief Financial Officer, Principal Accounting Officer,
Treasurer and Director




EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
TITLE 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Enzo Biochem, Inc., and Subsidiaries (“the Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ended April 30, 2016 as filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Elazar Rabbani, Ph.D., Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant

to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Dated: June 8, 2016
By: /s/ Elazar Rabbani, Ph.D.

Elazar Rabbani, Ph.D.
Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer and Director



EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
TITLE 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Enzo Biochem, Inc., and Subsidiaries (“the Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ended April 30, 2016 as filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Barry Weiner, President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify,
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Dated: June 8, 2016

By:  /s/ Barry Weiner

Barry Weiner
President, Chief Financial Officer, Principal Accounting Officer, Treasurer and
Director



